REPORT OF AN EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY INTERNISH
AT THE COLLEGE OF THE NORTH ATLANTIC
INCLUDING A RESEARCH REPORT ON STUDENT
SATISFACTION WITH COUNSELLING SERVICES AS
MEASURED BY THE STUDENT SATISFACTION SURVEY

CENTRE FOR NEWFOUNDLAND STUDIES

TOTAL OF 10 PAGES ONLY MAY BE XEROXED

(Without Author's Permission)

ANDREW R. SMITH







Report of an Educational Psychology Internship at The College of the North Atlantic Including a Research Report on Student Satisfaction with Counselling Services as Measured by The Student Satisfaction Survey

.

Andrew R. Smith, B.Sc. (Hon.)

A report submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Education

Faculty of Education Memorial University of Newfoundland

199

St. John's

Newfoundland

#### ARSTRACT

This report describes various aspects of an educational psychology internable undertaken at the College of the North Atlantic from September to December of 1997 in St. John I, NF, Canada. Aspects include a statement of goals and objectives followed by a description of cardivides and personal reflections indicating how well these goals and objectives were net during the internablp. The research component focussed on the degree of satisfaction that seconal year students experienced with Counselling Services. The findings suggest that overall students are satisfied with the present state of operations at the College. However, source of increased awareness need to be addressed on a campits-wide basis. It was found in this sample that the demographic effects of gender, program type, and CPA did not show any statistically significant differences between users and non-users of Counselling Services. However, a significant difference was found between age categories and usage of Counselling Services, in that other students reported using aspects of Counselling Services move than younger students. Recommendations and suggestions for future research are provided. The Student Satisfaction Survey and 46 references are included.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all those individuals who helped make this internship and report an enjoyable, yet challenging experience in the Educational Psychology program.

First, I would like to thank both my faculty supervisors, Dr. Norm Gatlie, B.Sc. (University of Wisconsin-Biver Fallris, M.A. (Wjoming), Ph.D. (Unius) & Dr. Dennis Sharpe, Cert. Ed (Loughborough College), B.Ed., M.Ed., (Alberto), Ph.D. (Texar A & M). Their respective guidance, input and comultation were of great benefit both during and after the internable period.

Secondly, the on-site internship experience was made rewarding by the contributions of field supervisors Mr. John Harnett, B.A., (MUN), M.E.d. (MUN), Ms. Brenda Newhook, B.Ed. (MUN), M.E.d. (MUN), as well as Mr. David Touchings, B.Ed. (MUN), M.E.d. (MUN), Ed. (MUN), M.E.d. (MUN), M

Thirdly, many thanks to Mr. Gerry White who was instrumental in the statistical analysis of data generated in this study.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife and best friend, Paula, whose unconditional love, support, and patience are always appreciated.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag
ABSTRACT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
LIST OF TABLES	vi
CHAPTER I	
INTRODUCTION The Internship Setting Excited and Find Supervision Research Component Internship Goals and Objectives Counseiling Psycho-Educational and Vocational Assessment Consultation Development of Knowledge	
CHAPTER II	
COUNSELLING The Counselling Process Counselling Experiences: Reflections on Case Studies & Salient Learnings	
DEVELOPMENT OF KNOWLEDGE  Conference & Professional Development Workshops  Collaborative Action Plranning: A College-Based  Carent Employability Consultation Model  Student Success Seminars '97.  Review of Internation Objectives  Counselling  Prychs-educational & Vocational Assessments  Development of Knowledge	12 12 12 14 15 16 16 18 20 21

CHAPTER III
RESEARCH COMPONENT
Statement of Purpose
Significance of the Study
Literature Review
Assessing Counselling Services
Statement of Ethics and Standards of Practice for
Counselling Services within the College of Applied Arts and
Technology
Earlier Counselling Services Research
The Need for Further Evaluation
Process
Awareness
Demographics
GPA
Summary
CHAPTER IV
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS
Introduction
Development and Structure of the Student Satisfaction
Survey (SSS)
Field Testing
Research Questions
Methodology
Sampling and Administration Procedures
Data Analysis Procedures
Limitations of the Current Study
Results and Discussion
Sample Demographics: A Student Profile
Research Question 1:

What are some reasons for use and non-use of Counselling Services ?

How did users become aware of Counselling Services ? .......

Are students aware of selected aspects of Counselling Services ?

Research Ouestion 2:

Research Question 3:

Research Question 4:	
To what extent were students satisfied with selected aspects	
of Counselling Services ?	56
Research Question 5:	
What aspects of Counselling Services were most and	
least helpful ?	58
Research Question 6:	
What aspects of Counselling Services do students consider	
important and necessary ?	62
Research Question 7:	
Does gender, age, program, or GPA have an impact on	
Counselling Services usage?	65
Gender	65
Age	66
Program Type	67
Program x Reported Usage (Males)	67
Program x Reported Usage (Females)	68
GPA	68
Research Question 8:	
How do students perceive the Counsellor and the	
Counselling Process?	69
Research Question 9:	
How do students perceive the physical features of	
Counselling Services ?	71
SR V	72
UMMARY	72
Internship Goals	72
Research Results	73
Counselling Services Use and Awareness Issues	73
Satisfaction with Counselling Services	75
Effects of Gender, Age, Program Type, and GPA on use of	
Counselling Services	78
-	

	Age Program Type
	GPA
	Perceptions of Counselling Services
	Criticisms of Student Satisfaction Survey
	Suggestions for Improvement
	Recommendations for Further Research
REFERENCES	s

APPENDIX A: The Student Satisfaction Survey (SSS)

APPENDIX B: Demographic Information

APPENDIX C: Student Comments

APPENDIX D: College Consent Form

# LIST OF TABLES

		4.36
Table 1:	Students' reported use of Counselling Services	51
Table 2:	General nature of student visits to Counselling Services	51
Table 3:	Reasons identified for not using Counselling Services in the past	5
Table 4:	Student awareness of selected Counselling Services	54
Table 5:	How students found out about Counselling Services	56
Table 6:	Student reports of initial treatment at Counselling Services	57
Table 7:	Length of wait for an appointment with a counsellor	58
Table 8:	Degree of helpfulness of specific aspects of Counselling Services	60
Table 9a:	User student feedback as to the importance of selected Counselling Services	63
Table 9b:	Non-user student feedback as to the importance of selected Counselling Services	64
Table 10a:	Comparison of males to females with respect to usage of Counselling Services	65
Table 10b	Frequency and percentage of users and non-users based on age	66
Table 10c:	A comparison of male users and non-users of Counselling Services based on program categories	67
Table 10d:	A comparison of female users and non-users of Counselling Services based on program categories	68
Table 10e:	Comparison of GPA's of users and non-users of Counselling Services	69
Table 11:	Ratings of selected counsellor and counselling process attributes	70
Table 12:	Student feedback with respect to the physical environment of Counselling Services office(s)	71
Table 13:	Services which should be provided by Counselling Services	86

APPENDIX B: Demographic Information	Page
Table B1: Sample composition based on campus	В-2
Table B2: Gender distribution	В-2
Table B3: Age distribution	В-2
Table B4: Registration status	В-3
Table B5: Composition of sample by specific program	В-3
Table B6: Number of months enrolled at the College of the North Atla	ntic. B-4
Table B7: Program areas surveyed	В-5
Table B8: Reasons for attending the College of the North Atlantic	В-5
Table B9: Identification of special need	В-5
Table B10: Marital status	В-6
Table B11: Number of dependents	В-6
Table B12: Reported frequency of student employment in hours per wee	ek B-6
Table B13: Reported annual income range	В-7
Table B14: Reported Grade Point Average	В-7
APPENDIX C: Student Comments	
Table C1: Other reasons offered for attending the College of the North	
Atlantic	C-2
Table C2: General Nature of visit to Counselling Services - Other	C-2
Table C3: Explanation for coincidental awareness of Counselling Service	es C-2
Table C4: Student responses to the question "How did you feel you were treated when you first came into Counselling Services?"	
Table C5: Student comments and suggestions for improvement	C-5
Table C6: Other reasons "I have not used Counselling Services in the pa	

## CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

## Rationale for Internship

The Masters of Education (Educational Psychology) program at Memorial University of NewYoundland requires graduate students to complete either a thesis, internship, project, or paper floil on partial fulfillment of the degree. This candidate chose to pursue the internship route in order to gain an affertness perspective and counselling experience in a non-clinical post-secondary setting. Prior to the internship, the intern completed two clinically-oriented practicums at the Waterford Hospital within the St. John's Health Care Corporation. While at the Waterford Hospital, the intern worked primarily with adults displaying various types and degrees of psycho-pathology. These practicums provided professionally rewarding experiences in a mental health setting.

An a Educational Psychology intern should seek out may diverse experiences in order to continue developing their commelling style, competence, and adaptability. The intern's chosen setting included both the Prince Phillip Drive and Engineering Technology Centre campuses of the College of the North Atlantic (formerly known as Zabot College of Applied Arts, Technology and Continuing Education). At the College, the intern had an opportunity to work with a population with somewhat different concerns, issues, and needs.

## The Internship Setting

The public college system in Newfoundland & Labrador has recently been recognized and the 18 community colleges throughout Newfoundland & Labrador united under a new administrative structure and name. The name of the college is now the College of the North Adantic and its headquarters are located in Stephenville. Individual campuses were categorized under a system of districts. District 7 is composed of Prince Philip Drive (PPD), Engineering & Technology Centre - Ridge Road (ETC), Seal Cove (SC), and Topsail Road (TRC). The College also offered a program in Textile Studies at the Anna Tempeton Centre (ATC) campus. During the internship, the intern was associated, for the most part, with both the PPD and ETC campuses.

The College of the North Atlantic is probably beat known throughout Newfoundland and Labrador as an educational institution offering a wide variety of programs. The array of courses is intended to reflect the needs of the student and the community at large. Typically, there are approximately 3000 full-time students from various age groups attending the College of the North Atlantic in Adult Basic Education (ABE), Industrial Trades, Engineering Technology, Medical Sciences, Business, Community and Applied Arts, and Continuing Education programs. Enrollment in the fall of 1997 was approximately 1200 students at the PPD campus and 1100 students at the ETC campus. An additional 500 intuitients were enrolled at both Topeal Road and Seal Cove campuses combined.

The internship began in September, 1997 and continued for 12 weeks. Prior to the internship, field supervisors noted this period would be a very busy time for Counselling Services and suggested that this internship would provide the intern with a valuable field experience.

Daily scheduling for the internable was determined primarily by office space availability and was organized in the following manner: Monday's and Wednesday's were devoted to the PPD campus, Tuesdays and Thundays to the ETC campus. Priday's were set aside as dedicated research days. During the internable, the intern participated in activities aimed to broaden his knowledge base and provide opportunities to enhance counselling skills. Among other things, those activities included direct interactions with students and supervisors, extra readings of relevant literature, and preparing for and conducting Student Success Seminars for students interested in topics such as budgeting, test anciety, stress management, international study skills.

## Faculty and Field Supervision

The intern was affiliated with the Division of Student Services at the College of the North Atlantic. Ongoing on-site supervision was provided by John Hamest, coansellor and registered psychologist, and Brenda Newhook, coansellor. Additional supervision and consultation with regards to the Woodcock Johnson - Revised Cognitive and Achievement batteries was provided by David Touchings, former Learning Disabilities Specialist at the college.

Drs. Norman Gatile and Dennis Sharpe acted as faculty co-supervisors to the intern.

Two supervisors were chosen by the intern to supervise differing supects of the internablp,.

Both faculty supervisors were involved with their respective areas of expertise. Dr. Gartie

provided ongoing supervision of counselling and Dr. Sharpe supervised the research

component process.

### Research Component

The intern was also required to complete a research project relevant to the internship setting. The intern chose to investigate the degree of satisfaction that second year students at the College of the North Atlantic have experienced with Counselling Services. This was directly related to the objectives outlined below, and allowed the intern to develop an increased understanding of what effective counselling services should be, and the extent to which the needs of students are being met. The area of student satisfaction is also essential to the college, and periodic formative evaluation is essential to maintaining a high level of student services. The College of the North Atlantic reports to have based its institutional mandate on certain assumptions regarding education. This includes the assumption "that learning is a life long process which is vital and necessary both as a personal and a social experience. This, by definition, requires that continuing education programs should be comprehensive in order to meet the needs of all individual persons and groups within the society". Secondly, the college assumes "that continuing education also has an obligation to assist in community development by offering programs of community education and service directed towards the goals of the community at large as these goals have been identified and assessed by the community" (College of the North Atlantic, 1997, p.3). Within the context of these broad assumptions, the College developed the following goals:

- Promoting formal and informal adult learning in the regional community;
- Providing individual and group counselling in the establishment and achieving of educational goals;

- Receiving input from advisory and other committees to implement an ongoing process of educational needs definition: and
- Offering full-time and part-time programs in academic, applied arts, vocational, technical, personal development and community service education in response to the educational needs of the community. (College of the North Atlantic. 1997. p. 3).

The research component describes an evaluation based on the second goal listed above. Another function of this research was to provide feedback to the counsellors and Student Services division in accordance with the third goal. This involved submitting the results of the research, as well as recommendations to the College of the North Atlantic upon completion of the renort.

### Internship Goals and Objectives

According to the Faculty of Education Graduate Student Handbook (Memorial University of Newfoundland, 1996) the purpose of the internship is to provide opportunities for:

- The development of personal and professional competencies for each intern based on his/her needs, previous experiences, and career plans;
- Practical experiences that will bring into focus the theoretical component of the program;
- Practical experiences that will enable the intern and the Faculty to evaluate the intern's professional and personal competencies:
- The development of research and problem-solving skills appropriate to the needs of the intern and the setting, considering the nature of the placement and the intern's career goals; and,
- Feedback to the Faculty which will serve to inform further program development (Memorial University of Newfoundland, 1996, Appendix H, p.1).

Bearing this in mind, prior to the internship at the College of the North Atlantic, the intern developed an internship proposal which stipulated specific goals that were to be pursued. These goals were grouped under four main categories:

#### Counselling

- To become familiar with the programs and services provided by the college;
- To take an active role in counselling students in a post-secondary institution environment;
- To explore and practice counselling skills, making refinements where necessary. This
  included becoming increasingly effective in addressing both personal and career
  counselling issues; and
- To attend regular meetings with on-site supervisors on a weekly basis and with faculty supervisors at least three times during the internship to discuss progress and specific cases.

## Psycho-Educational and Vocational Assessment

To administer and interpret a number of available assessment tools relevant to the setting which may include the use of intelligence tests, Career/Interest inventories, achievement batteries, and other diagnostic instruments.

#### Consultation

 To develop collaborative relationships and consult where appropriate with instructors, co-ordinators, District Administrators, and Associate District Administrators concerning both student and faculty needs.

### Development of Knowledge

 To seek out, read, and apply additional literature/information when necessary to mutually benefit the college students and the intern;

- To participate in any in-services, workshops, or professional development meetings that occur during the internship period; and
- To examine, through research, the area of student satisfaction with specific aspects of Counselling Services, a Division of Student Services.

In the following chapter, and throughout the remainder of the report, the manner in which these goals were met are described.

#### CHAPTER II

#### COUNSELLING

This chapter provides a description of the internship activities experienced by the intern during a 12 week internship held at the College of the North Atlantic which began September, 1997.

## The Counselling Process

At the College of the North Atlantic, the focus of Counselling Services was on shortterm counselling for students with personal, career, and/or academic problems. This covered a wide variety of difficulties which students often encountered during their course of study. These difficulties ranged from requiring specific program information, to coping with anxiety, to obtaining additional academic help through the peer tutoring program, to discussing personal issues which were impeding academic pursuits.

Counselling sessions usually lasted about 60 minutes, depending upon the circumstances which each client presented. Some cases occasionally required sessions lasting up to two hours as well as multiple sessions during some weeks.

All counselling sessions were kept confidential within the limits indicated by the Canadian Psychological Association Ethics guidelines (Canadian Psychological Association, 1992). At the onnex of counselling, it was made clear to each student that confidentially may be breached in situations where child abose, and/or potential harm to the student or others was suspected. It was also made clear to the client that a condition of the intern's counselling placement included weekly review of cases with supervisors and that confidentially would be maintained at all times.

## Counselling Experiences: Reflections on Case Studies & Salient Learnings

During the internolsip, the intern was able to work with many students, each demonstrating different needs. These divergent makent needs translated into diverse experiences for the intern. Five case studies were created and reviewed internally with the intern's supervisors as part of the internalsip supervision process. The studies incorporated many student issues related, but not infinited to, career consuelling, academic consuelling, psycho educational assessment, budgeting, self-esteem difficulties, assertiveness training, addictions counselling, and relationship problems. Some of these issues presented interesting challenges to the intern who then sought additional information and other recovers to detere soult tradeate.

### Upon reflection, the following observations were made:

- The client doesn't always readily disclose the true nature of their help seeking behavior until a certain level of rapport is established. Without this rapport and sense of security, the course of counselline can be abrunt and ineffective.
- Some clients rawy want the counsellor to "nobe" all their problems without assuming any responsibility for change themselves. Many clients approach the counselling process with the idea that simply seeking help would "cure" their problems or that the counsellor would have "all the right answers" to their particular dilemma. They sometimes do not want to work on their issues, but would rather the counsellor and/or significant others to take responsibility for their issues.

- One has to accept that sometimes the client will decide not to deal with the issues and that this is their decision. This was difficult for the intern to accept at first because it was felt that perhaps there was more that could be done to help remove some of the client's hurtful feelings. However, upon further reflection, no one can force a client to take action if the client is not ready to take action themselves, including the counsellor.
  - Knowledge of community-based welve step support programs such as Acoholics
    Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous, and Gamblers Anonymous, etc., are quite
    valuable to the counsellor in order to get a sense of the possible effects that
    addictions can have on a scient's life. In general, members relate their personal
    negative experiences with addictions as well as their positive experiences with
    rehabilitation through the program. It can often be a truly moving emotional
    experience to observe the genuine acceptance and support espoused by the group as
    a whole. The intern gained some general insight into the nature of addictions
    counselling and the types of behavior typically presented by persons addicted to
    alcohol and other rubstraces.
  - A bibliotherspeutic approach can be effective and was often incorporated into counselling sessions. For example, Nathaniel Branden's (1929<u>) The Power of Self-</u> sattern is a fine resource for self-esteem work, particularly when discussing the concepts of self-efficacy and self-respect. The Relaxation & Stress Reduction

<u>Workhook</u> (Davis, Esbelman, & McKay, 1996) can be helpful when developing an assertiveness training program. Perhaps one of the most useful structured exercises for developing assertive behavior during the internship was the LADDER concept. This concept presents a sequence of steps to follow when acting assertively.

## Specifically, the LADDER process involves:

- Looking at the clients rights, wants, needs, and feelings about a situation.
- Arranging a time and place to discuss issues of contention which is convenient for both the client and relevant parties.
- Defining the problem situation as specifically as possible
- 4) Describing the client's feelings so that the other party has a better understanding of how important an issue is to the client. This section included the use of "I messages" to express feelings clearly and assertively.
- Expressing the client's request in one or two easy to understand sentences being firm and specific.
- Reinforcing the other party to give you what you want by describing positive consequences of the action. (Davis. Eshelman. & McKav. 1996: p.198).
- An excellent resource for communication training is The 20 Minute Guide to Detter Relationships (Barrett, 1995). It provides 20 concrete tips on how to enhance communication patterns in relationships. It highlights the importance of using "I statements", 'practicing active listening, and other techniques for improving interpersonal communication.
- One of the roles in which a counsellor may find themselves is that of

  consultant/mediator between two or more parties. The parties may include

government agencies such as the Department of Education, Social Services, school boards, parents, reachers, and students. It has been suggested in the literature that a number of fishcen are involved when providing effective consultation. These include counsellor qualities such as "friendliness, warnth, listening skills, empathy, openness and the qualities of being supportive, flexible, efficient, non-threatening, non-evaluative, understanding, and offiring concrete suggestions" (Cole & Siegal, 1990, pp. 55-56). The intern had an opportunity to fulfill this role during the internship period.

#### DEVELOPMENT OF KNOWLEDGE

#### Conferences & Professional Development Workshops

The intern was very formante to have had the opportunity to attend the Provincial Student Services Conference held at Kildevil Conference Centre in Lomond, NF, and also take part in the Career Employability Services Professional Development workshop held in Gunder, NF.

## **Provincial Student Services Conference**

The Provincial Student Services Conference was hosted by campuses in the western stituties and run from October 15-17, 1997. The conference theme was "Exploring the Connections, Discovering the Value". This theme was swown throughout events and speeches, and particularly reiterated during Dr. Ron Spackes' key note speech during the introductory session. Dr. Spackes outlined ten specific guiding principles which demonstrated a strong commitment by the Board of Executives to the students and the college as a whole. The 10 principles suggested the need for a strong commitment to:

- a student-centred college;
- 2. quality and relevance in programs and services offered to the students;
- 3. supporting and encouraging ongoing professional development for all personnel;
- 4. flexibility and responsiveness to the needs of staff and students;
- 5. participatory decision-making through team involvement:
- change and innovation in terms of the process and the product offered by Student
- 7. sharing accountability for an effective and efficient system;
- meaningful partnerships on multiple levels. These include local, provincial, national, and international ties:
  - the socio-economic development of the community in terms of providing rural development initiatives; and
  - 10. the institution as a whole.

Through the incorporation of these 10 guiding principles, Dr. Sparkes felt that the College of the North Atlantic would be in a better position to provide for the needs of the student and the community-at-large.

Dr. Sparkes then described the role of Student Services staff as being that of the "skillded helper" - with the essential elements for counsellors being that to establish a relationship, to understand others from their point of view and communicate this to them, and to help people develop new perspectives about themselves, their problems, and their opportunities.

This presentation and the conference overall strengthened the Intern's learnings in

the "skilled helper" role and provided an opportunity for networking and team-building within the college.

Collaborative Action Planning:

# A College-Based Career/Employability Consultation Model

This professional development workshop was held in Gander November 17-21, 1997, and was co-presented by Mr. Brian Tobia, District #4 - College of the North Atlantic, and Dr. Phil Patula of the University of Ottawa. Mr. Tobia recently conducted research in the area of career employability and made recommendations to the provincial College based on this research at this workshop.

providing initial and ongoing career and employability consulting services to the student from the time prior to enrolment in a particular program to post graduation from a program. The needs of the student can vary at these points along the student's academic career. CAP tasks are arranged in the following phases: identifying and clarifying career and employability issues; and establishing an action plan. Using this "Skilled Helper" approach millist to Egan's 1(994), CAP was designed to involve students and consultants to focus on:

College-based Collaborative Action Planning (CAP) describes the process used in

- Personal and environmental issues that are helping and/or hindering students from choosing, getting, and progressing in College programs and/or employment opportunities.
- 2. The formulation of a realistic action plan, taking into account the resources available to the student, both personal and environmental, through which the student is able to assume greater responsibility for action which leads to increased self-sufficiency with respect to its or her academic pursuits, employability and consequent employment (Pastula & Tohin, 1997; p.i).

One of the primary outcomes of the workshop was the goal to develop & implement individual Career Employability Centres (CEC) at campuses throughout the province. This task was started towards the end of the internability placement, and the intern had the opportunity to act as a contributing team member for District 7, attending weekly and/or biweekly CEC Development Committee meetings. The focus of the team meetings was on some of the horistics involved in the reastion and maintenance of the centre.

### Student Success Seminars '97

Student Success Seminars were offered this year that focussed on several areas that have, in the past, presented students with difficulties in achieving their academic potential. These areas included issues with budgetting, study skills, exam preparation, stress management, time management, time that success. Seminars were offered at both the Ridge Road and Prince Phillip drive campuses, and lasted approximately 50 - 60 minutes. These seminars were scheduled at times when it was anticipated that most students could attend. They were delivered throughout the term by staff consellors as well as the intern. A schedule of seminar times was proted well in advance and advertised in both locations. However, attendance at the seminar series was poor overall despite careful planning and preparation. It was later discovered that the scheduling of these seminars was in fact problematic for many students. Those who were interested in attending may not have been able to do so because of a work term placement or a conflict with their class schedule. Scheduling was made difficult because programs varied with respect to their stude to a procious, even though the selection of seminar times flocutated in order to accommodate the

most students. These seminars usually occurred near or during lunch break, and therefore may have conflient with student council meetings, intranumal sports, or extra lab time. The fact that lunch break was one of the few chances to relax during the day possibly made it difficult to attract large numbers of students. It is anticipated that these factors should be taken into consideration in future offerings in order to maximize the opportunities for student attendance (and benefit). On a positive note, feedback received from students who did attend was generally favourable.

### Review of Internship Objectives

Objectives for the internship were met in the manner described below.

# Counselling

1. To become familiar with the programs and services provided by the college. This objective was accomplished during the first few weeks of the internship by means of comprehensive orientations provided by Ms. Newhook and Mr. Harmett, and by daily coperind the learning through interaction with both students and ficulty. Often during that initial period there were instances where the intern did not know the answers immediately when attempting to respond to student inquiries. The process would then involve jorting down telephone numbers and getting back to them, with the appropriate response, shortly after consultation with either Ms. Newhook or Mr. Harmett. Much knowledge was gained regarding the general structure of the various programs and the college as a whole. A knowledge of, and positive working relationship with, the District Administrators, Associatus

the implementation of the Student Satisfaction Survey utilized for the research component of the internship.

- To take an active role in counselling students in a post-secondary institution environment and;
- To explore and practice counselling skills, making refinements where necessary.
  This included becoming increasingly effective in addressing both personal and
  career counselling issues.

These two objectives were obviously fundamental to the counselling internship experience. Objective three is ongoing, and in a sense, could never truly be attained within a three month internship. It is the intern's belief that a practising psychologist/counsellor assumes a commitment to lifelong learning and is therefore constantly refining skills and developing a personal style of counselling. This belief aside, the intern was successful in working with various students during the internship and was able to make some improvements with regards to counselling approaches and further learning. The intern became more consciously aware of allowing the client to set the pace through the counselling process. Often, the intern found himself wanting to jump right into the problem solving component instead of waiting for the client to be at that point as well. Furthermore, perhaps the most difficult lesson to learn concerned being able to recognize the impact of the student's motivational level in addressing their presenting complaint. Often mere lip service is not sufficient to initiate lasting change, as this requires strong commitment and action. The intern wanted to believe that students wished to change their maladaptive behaviors however, some students may not have sufficient motivation to completely commit to change.

Another useful approach that the intern applied with several cases was the bibliotherapoutic approach. Bibliotherapy is closely related to the psycho-educational approach and allows the student to actively take more responsibility for their therapoutic goals. This way the student feels that they are doing something, which tends to increase motivational levels in some students. Again, I found that the more motivated a person became, the more successful they would be in achieving set therapeutic goals.

 Attend regular meetings with on-site supervisors on a weekly basis and with faculty supervisors at least three times during the internship to discuss progress and specific cases.

Meetings were arranged and attended in accordance with agreements with both fluctuly and on-site supervisors. These meetings were very important in addressing any concerns dealing with the Intern's caselond, and for providing fresheak on the direction and development of the Student Satisfaction Survey. The intern feels grateful to each individual who was able to work with him as each consultant was able to present slightly differing views of a specific case, thereby allowing the intern to consider viewpoints that may have been different from his con-

#### Psycho-educational and Vocational Assessment

 To administer and interpret a number of available assessment tools relevant to the setting which may include the use of intelligence tests, Career/Interest inventories, achievement batteries, and other diagnostic instruments.

This objective was met in part during the internship through supervision, administration, scoring, interpretation, and resultant recommendations of the Canadian Adult Achievement Test (CAAT). The CAAT is an assessment tool which is used to assess levels of adult achievement in students who are applying to the college as a Mature Student. According to the Mature Student policy, mature students are those applicants who do not meet the ducational pre-requisites for the program they wish to enter, are at least 19 years of age, and have been out of high school for at least one year. It was recommended that all mature student applicants write the CAAT. Feedback on the student's performance was intended to provide the student with an indication of the likelihood of successful completion of his/her chosen program. It also provided counsellors with an objective basis on which to recommend program choices to the mature student.

There were a number of students that were interested in exploring their causer interests and abilities. For these students, the Self Directed Search (SDS) was used as well as CHOICES 94. The SDS attempts so classify the students' area(s) of interest and match them with a number of relevant occupations. Another interest inventory frequently used was IDEAS which like the SDS, is a paper and pencil interest inventory incorporating Holland's occupational groupings. CHOICES 98 is a computerized program that contains an interest inventory as well as up-to-date educational requirements for occupations. Each occupation is roots-reference with a list of collegacy/universities/institutions that offer programs to statin such educational requirements and skills. During the term, the intern attended a CHOICES 98 in-service. The format of this program is very simple to use and the intern noted that most students were able to learn how to navigate within the program fairly quickly. Another interesting aspect of the program was that the student could compare two occupations and print a comparison report listing pertinent information such as job title, salary, and

educational requirements.

The intern met with David Touchings, Learning Disabilities Specialist for an overview of the psychometric qualities of the Woodcock Johnson - Revised, since this particular assessment tool had not been specifically addressed in formal studies. It was noted that there were many similarities between the Woodcock Johnson Cognitive Abilities section and the WAIS-R; as well as similarities between the Woodcock Johnson Achievement section and the Wochsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT) and the Kaufman Test of Educational Achievement (XTEA).

Consultation

 To develop collaborative relationships and consult where appropriate with instructors, co-ordinators, District Administrators, and Associate District Administrators concerning both student and faculty needs.

This objective was mer in a number of ways. During the development of the Student Satisfaction Survey, a number of faculty members were asked for their input as to what should be included in a survey. Also, through College conferences and professional development workshops, a true sense of teamwork was developed. It was further exemplified by group work in the creation of policies regarding standardized assessments for use in the College, as well as during the planning of the Curree Employability Centre initiatives as a direct extension of the Employability Skills Professional Development sessions held in Gauder.

### Development of Knowledge

To seek out, read, and apply additional literature/information when necessary
to mutually benefit both the college students and the intern.

This objective, like Objective 3, is one that is constantly being revisited and added to. For example, during preparation of the Student Success Seminar on Text Assirty the intern consulted many sources of information. Another valuable self-entern resource is McKey & Fanning's (1987) Self\_Entern text. Literature aimed at helping the consustled better understand the nature of addictions include the Adult Children of Alcoholics (ACOA) literature and The Addictions Workhook (Funning & O'Neill, 1996). With respect to career counselling, the intern frequently turned to the Occupational Monographs, National Occupation Centre (NOC) listings, and Job Futures series to help students find the information they required.

 To participate in any in-services, workshops, or professional development meetings that may occur during the internship period.

This objective was met through participation in the various in-services (CHOICES 98), conferences (Provincial Student Services Conference held in Lomond, NF), and professional development workshops (Employability Skills Professional Development workshop held in Gunder)

To examine, through research, the area of student satisfaction with specific attributes of Counselling Services, a Division of Student Services.

This final objective was met though the development, administration, and interpretation of the Student Satisfaction Survey. The intern wanted to develop an instrument that would help assess students' satisfaction with aspects of Counselline Services from the perspective of the student while incorporating salient learnings from the Masters of Education (Educational Psychology) program and other essential standards applicable to counsellors working in a post-secondary institution.

# CHAPTER III

#### RESEARCH COMPONENT

### Statement of Purpose

An additional requirement of the interminipi in Educational Psychology involved conducting a research study related to the intern's activities at the chosen setting. The intern was directly involved in delivering counselling services to students at the College of the North Atlantic. Therefore, the intern decided in collaboration with the college, to develop the Student Satisfaction Survey to evaluate the degree of satisfaction that second year students at the College of the North Atlantic have with Counselling Services.

### Significance of the Study

A study of this nature is significant to both the intern and the College of the North Atlantic. In conducting this research, the intern was able to collect students' perceptions of Counselling Services and the coanselling process. The development of the survey instrument issulf was a valuable learning experience in that it provided an opportunity to examine counsellor qualities and the coanselling process from the student's perspective.

student. The results of the survey aimed to provide the college with a view to the student's perspective of this interaction, as well as perceptions of other aspects of Counselling Services. Feedback of this type is very important for the continuous evaluation of services provided by the college. This survey was designed to help further develop an accurate picture of how the needs and characteristics of students are related to the services provided

The art of counselling can be found in the interaction between counsellor and the

#### by Counselling Services.

With further revision, the survey could be used to evaluate counselling centres at other post-secondary institutions. This could become the focus of future follow-up studies involving the use of this survey instrument.

#### Literature Review

#### Assessing Counselling Services

Researchers have pointed out that assessing counselling services in any organization is a difficult process (McLeod, 1992; Robertson & MacDonald, 1995). Indeed, McLeod wrote that "counselling is an activity in which, almost uniquely, the quality of work and the cutcome of effort is largely hidden from external scrutiny and affirmation" (McLeod, 1992; p.359).

Evaluation of counselling may be further complicated by the fact that many counsellors themselves have different points of view as to what counselling is and how they do it. For example, some counsellors may hold one particular theoretical orientation such as 'pure' behaviorism, while others may choose to be theoretically eclects in their professional roles as counsellors and psychologists. It is important when surveying students about counselling services not to dwell on the distinctions between the underlying theoretical schools, but rather to investigate some of the basic essential qualities and universal techniques that efficiency counsellors should possess and employ, regardless of theoretical recinition. To help delineate these qualities, as well as the counselling process, a number of sources including Egan's (1994) The Skilled Helger, Amundaton's (1995) career

counselling model, and Robertson & MacDonald's assessment approach which uses the Statement of Ethics and Standards of Practice for Counselling Services within the College of Applied Arts and Technology (Ontario College Counsellors, 1984) were reviewed.

Egan (1994) proposed "the Skilled Helper" model which consists of three main stages: (1) reviewing the problem situation and unused opportunities; (2) developing the preferred scenario; and (3) determining how to get there. Stage One involves listening and attending skills which enable the client to describe their situation, identifying and challenging inconsistencies, and prioritizing presented difficulties. It further emphasizes the importance of the client working on their presenting difficulties both during and between sessions. Egan noted that the counsellor should "help the client tell their story as clearly as possible" (p.25); "help the client discover and deal with the kinds of blind spots that keep them from seeing problems and opportunities clearly and moving ahead" (p. 26); and "help the client identify and work on problems, issues, concerns, or opportunities that will make a difference in their lives" (p. 26). Stage Two deals with planning for preferred outcomes. Egan suggested that the counsellor's main role at this point is to "help clients develop a range of possibilities for the future" (p. 30). Next, the counsellor would help the client to "choose realistic possibilities and turn them into viable goals" (p. 32). Once these goals were decided upon, the counsellor would help the client decide whether or not they were willing to commit to change. If the client was not truly committed to change, then very little change, if any at all. might occur. In Stage Three, the counsellor and client work together and brainstorm the best ways to arrive at the desired outcome. The counsellor would help to develop a list of strategies and resources that would enable the client to reach their goal(s). The final step

would be to help the client develop these strategies into a concrete, step-by-step plan and then follow it

A skilled helper should possess both basic and advanced communication skills. The counsellor should be able to establish working relationships with clients and help clients challenge themselves. Also needed are counselling skills in problem clarification, goal esting, development of an action plan, and ongoing evaluation of the helping process. Furthermore, the competent counsellor shows respect for the client, is genuine, and enables the client to enhance their self-responsibility (Egan, 1994).

Using a similar approach, Anumdono (1993; 1993) developed a four phase model for use in employment counselling which took into consideration psychological, social, and connomic factors. In Phase One, the working alliance is developed and established. Anumdono (1993) noted that "counsellots need to create a mattering climate where the client feels acknowledged, respected, and valued" (p. 146). Anumdono describes "mattering" as involving not only positive interpersonal interactions but also providing a physical environment which helps to establish rapport and protect the client's privacy. During this phase, Anumdono suggested that the client's expectations and needs should be addressed before progressing to the next phase. Any misconceptions about the nature of employment counselling should be addressed initially, and an assessment of readiness completed. The focus of Phase Two is almed at career exploration and assessment on both the personal and external levels. On the personal level, elements such as the student's interest, values, skills, strengths & limitations, and style were explored to help the student efficience would be a part of the instance of the property of the part of the part of the part of the property of the part of the property of the part of the part of the part of the personal section and supervised the limitations, and style were explored to help the student's interest values, skills, strengths & limitations, and style were explored to help the student effectors were also as a part of the property of the part of the part

work/leisure experiences, educational background, and labour market options are also assessed. Anumdon suggested that the search for employment relies heavily on an interaction between these two levels. In Phase Three, the data is collected and evaluated to ee low viable certain options are. Often, because of the variability between people's individual interests and job opportunities, compromises are necessary. In order to make such compromises, counseilling may then involve challenging commonly held mytha about careers such as 'once you make a career choice you are committed for life' or "if you choose correctly you will be guaranteed as successful future." The final phase of commitment, action planning, and follow through simply involves the setting of attainable goals, developing action plans, and acting on them.

Like Egan, Amundon (1993) stated that effective connection help guide clients through the phases through the use of good communication skills and structured exercises. He identified the following communication skills as being helpful in this process: puraphrasing, clarifying, empathy, information giving, open ended questioning and ummarizing, reframing, constructive critical reflection, immediacy, self disclosure, advanced and accurate empathy, supporting, limiting, and confrontation. Some examples of these structured exercises would include role playing situations such as the job interview, as well as presentation and debate of possible solutions.

Robertson & MacDonald's (1995) approach to assessment utilizes team evaluation efforts along with individual self-evaluative activities. Their program <u>Assessment</u> <u>Guidelines: Reviewing and Renewing Counselling Services</u> is a four plass model which emphasizes proactive planning. It was developed in part with the Ontario College Counsellors (OCC) and the Association of Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology of Ontario under a grant from the Counselling Foundation of Canada. Throughout the four phases, the individual counsellor and the counselling unit have many opportunities to explore and assess areas of strengths and weaknesses. Areas for evaluation were based primarily on 14 core competencies as set forth in the Statement of Ethics and Standards of Practice for Counselling Services within the College of Applied Arts and Technology (Ontario College Counsellors, 1984). Robertson & MacDonald noted that the OCC have defined competencies "...not as aspects of a given job, but as special characteristics and skills of the people who do the job best" (p. 41). The authors caution that the list of competencies was not "exhaustive" nor "sufficient... but rather identified those salient competencies upon which all counsellors are prone to agree" (p.41). In fact, the list is very similar to those competencies outlined above by Egan (1994). Clearly these models have similarities both in terms of the process and the types of competencies necessary to bring about positive counselling outcomes. A closer look at these competencies is presented in the following section and should be applicable to colleges in general.

## Statement of Ethics and Standards of Practice for Counselling Services within the College of Applied Arts and Technology

The Statement reports the following core competencies:

- Effective communication skills in interpersonal relationships.
- The ability to perceive accurately and articulate clearly the client's needs.

- An understanding of, and an ability to use effectively, a variety of recognized counselling approaches.
- The ability to assist clients to mobilize their own resources to effect the meeting of client needs.
- The ability to engage clients in those processes which will most appropriately assist in meeting client needs. Such processes may include: individual counselling, group experiences, structured classes.
- An awareness of their own strengths and limitations and the arranging of appropriate referrals based on this awareness.
- A knowledge of appropriate resources within and outside of the college community and the use of appropriate methods and procedures when making referrals.
- The ability to facilitate the development of those values, attitudes, and skills most conducive to self-directed problem-solving.
- The ability to consult effectively with other persons within the counselling unit and other individuals, groups and organizations within and outside the college.
- The ability to assess and to acquire those resources as may be necessary to implement delivery modes appropriate to counselling and counselling-related activity.
- and counselling-related activity.

  11. The ability to assist in the identification of the changing needs of the client population, toward the planning and implementation of those delivery modes most suited to such needs.
- The ability to assess critically and to acquire those values, attitudes and skills necessary for effective delivery of counselling and counselling-related programs.
- The ability to recognize those activities and programs which fall
  within their own capabilities and the ability to recognize those
  which fall outside of such capabilities and to take action consistent
  with such conclusions.

 The ability to apply those principles and practices associated with learning and effective teaching. (p. 43)

These 14 statements describe fundamental skills which counsellors working in a postsecondary setting should hold. They range from developing specific interpersonal counselling skills, to identifying needs of changing student populations, to the ability to critically reflect on one's counselling abilities to ensure that the counselling needs of the students are always being met.

#### Farlier Counselling Services Research

Redovich (1982) surveyed the student population at the Milwaukee Area Technical College (MATC) with regards to their opinions on many aspects of the college services and compared to the college services and programs, including counselling services. Redovich's survey was developed through recommendations of staff members from all divisions of the college. It consisted of 14 background information items and 31 evaluation items directed at the functions, services, and facilities of the district. Of the 30 evaluation items this study, only one was directly related to counselling. It read as follows: "The services provided by the Counsellor (assistance in choosing a major, career planning, resolving personal problems, seto at MATC are ..." (Redovich, 1982; Appendix A, p. 21). Unfortunately, the four point scale used (excellent to terrible) was too vague to provide other than a cursory perspective of counselling services. Redovich onceluded that each individual department should further analyse relevant responses and "incorporate the results of this studysis into the continuous planning efforts of their division" (p.17). He noted that "through this analysis, together

with planning and resultant improvement-oriented activities, it is anticipated that the areas of strength will be maintained and that the limitations indicated by the surveys responses will be addressed" (p.17).

Dennii-Rounds (1980) surveyed a number of undergraduate students and students who had nuccessfully completed their program of study. He was interested in issues dealing with quality of instruction, quality of financial aid guidance, natoring services, scademic guidance, and placement office guidance. It was found that over half of the undergraduates were unaware of, or had never used, any of the guidance services (except for academic guidance). Between 40 % was 50% of graduates did not know guidance services well enough to comment about the scalint of such services.

Waddell & Hunt (1987) conducted an eight part needs assessment of the Cochine County Community College District, Arizona, to determine the port-secondary needs of the county. The population surveyed included high school students, business people, the general population, as well as students and faculty of the College. The broad-based sample was necessary in this case to determine how the college could better serve, not just the students, but the community as well. Survey questions saried between the groups, but most contained forecod-choice questions plus a few open need questions. School services, including commelling services, were naked by students along a four point scale from important to unimportant. Interestingly, only 22.796 of the students (n = 128) considered personal counselling important. As well, students were asked to rate the quality of a number of college services including counselling services. However, specific aspects of the counseling services including counselling services. However, specific aspects of the counseling

students surveyed responded "don't know" to the quality of counselling services, reflecting a high percentage of students who likely had not used the services or were not aware they existed.

#### The Need for Further Evaluation

Throughout education, a common theme of continual change can be found, especially with respect to student characteristics and their needs as well as the ability of the institution to provide mellificient resources and services to best serve the students and their changing needs. One of the basic tenetu underlying the Counseiling Services division at the College of the North Atlantic is that students can go there and receive confidential help with concerns that are interfering with their personal well being and/or exademic performance. Concerns may include social, personal, seademic, financial or career issues, coping with daily pressures college life, or ways to improve study habits. The dynamic nature of counselling services suggests that periodic review and modifications are necessary for continued effectiveness.

The Canadian Labour Force Development board conducted a survey of career and employment counselling in schools, colleges, universities, community agencies, and the Canada Employment Centres (CEC) across Canada (Kellett, 1944). The authors found that little evaluation of counselling programs occurred there and even when evaluation was conducted, a standardized evaluation format was lacking. They concluded that studies must be developed to assess new methods for the evaluation of counselline.

Similarly, Hiebert & Conger, (1995) as well as Conger, Hiebert, & Farrell, (1993) also found that there is a strong need for evaluation in all aspects of career counselling. In their 1995 study, up to 40 % of counsellors reported doing no evaluation of their work with clients. When evaluation was done, it tended to be with the client in the session, presumably by asking the client if the session was useful. Virtually no assessment was made of the impact of counseiling on the client's presenting problem. The authors found that counseiling programs were nearly evaluated for the purpose of improvement, and when such evaluation was done, the clients were not usually consulted in the process.

Career counsellors continually evaluate their work; they draw conclusions and develop action plans based on numerous activities: homework completion; client engagement; acquisition of interview skills or relaxation exhibits; numbers of employers constact, and so forth. Both counsellors and clients typically know when counselling is successful. Unfortunately, the evidence used to gauge success often is not considered evaluation, is not documented, and therefore cannot be used to back up claims that counselling has been successful (Hiebert & Conger, 1995; p.89).

#### Process

Despite a general lack of research in the assessment and evaluation of counselling, some researchers are examining the link between counselling processes and outcomes in order to help determine what constitutes an effective counselling session. For example, Cummings, Barak, and Hallberg (1995) conducted research on short term counselling by comparing session helpfulness to the outcome evaluation of the session. Their goal was to identify the variables specific to the session that were related to positive client outcome. Cummings, Barak, and Hallberg (1995) used a Helpfulness Rating Scale (Hill, O'Grady, Baleenger, Busse, Falk, Hill, Ros, & Taffe, 1994), as well as the Session Evaluation Questionnaire (SEQ Form 4; Stiles & Snow, 1984, clied in Cummings et al., 1995). These cases were completed after a session by both the counselfor and the client. The scales were

reported to measure the participant's perceptions, feelings, beliefs, and attributes about the effectiveness of counselling from both the client's and counsellor's point of view. It was found that clients and essential engine of greater "depth" as being more helpful. It was also found that clients who felt happy and good about themselves after the sensions tended to rate the sensions as being belpful. Hill et. al. (1994) suggested that perceived helpfulness can be a useful measure of sension outcome because if clients find sensions helpful, they are more likely to be involved in the "therapeutic change process", and an outcome reflecting positive change would also be more likely.

Kirschner, Hoffman and Hill (1994) investigated the consolelor-client interaction by evaluating the impact of seven sessions of career consettling with a 43 year old, career disstatified, speech theregist. Prior to consettling, career goals and attitudes about expected outcomes of the career-exploration process were measured. During counselling, assessments of the consetlor's intentions and the client's reactions to therapy were conducted using a questionnaire. A post-consettling assessment was conducted and follow-up assessments were carried out 18 months and 5 years later. They found that when the consetlor focused more on "feelings, insight, challenges, and the reinforvement of change, the client experienced a corresponding increase in self-understanding, hopefulness, assumption of responsibility, and attainment of new perspectives" (Kirschner, Hoffman and Hill, 1994; p.218). The authors suggested that the consetling relationship itself was crucial to the client's successful experience.

Flynn (1994) noted that when evaluation on career and employment counselling is carried out, it has focussed on methods and outcomes rather than on counsellor-client interactions. Further knowledge regarding the interaction and process of counseilling is necessary in order to evaluate its effectiveness. Therefore, one of the goals of the Student Satisfaction Survey in the present study was to attempt to identify and evaluate selected appects of the counseilling process as well as those specific counseilor skills fundamental to an interactive counseilling experience.

#### Awareness

Some literature has reported that the majority of naudents are not aware of counselling services (Cook, Park, Williams, Webb, Nicholson, Schneider & Eassman, 1944; Henggeler, Hurbin & Sallis, 1942; McConth, 1995). McGirchin (1995) suggested that "it's very likely that a person's lack of awareness of professional help sources is a result of their belief that personal problems can be dealt with using a number of alternative help sources" (p.17).

However, in an earlier study by Lewicki & Thompson, (1982, claed in McGrath, 1995), 99% of their sample reported an awareness of the college's student services. Of guidance, counselling, and testing, but only 47% of this sample used those services. Other studies have suggested greater use of consensition services. For example, Sworder (1992) conducted a general survey to assess the effort that students put into using existing college facilities. His research also included the extent of students participation in college activities and the quality of the college environment. The survey consisted solely of forced response "yes/no" questions. With respect to counselling services, 70% of 489 years of the student they had consulted a counsellor about courses to take, course pre-requisites and other requirements, as well as about obseation plans in general. Fifty-five percents aid that they

had discussed vocational interests, abilities and ambitions with a connection, while 32% indicated they had talked to a counselior about personal matters related to their college performance. These findings imply that awareness does not always guarantee usage. What are some reasons them for these findings?

Student non-use is a significant problem since it has been reported that college students are generally underntillising college conselling centres (McGrath, 1995). Unformastely, many of these students may become so overwhelmed that they end up failing academically, dropping out, or worse. Obviously, counselling could be very helpful to these students but students have to be willing to use these services.

Why do some students not seek help for personal problems? Camery, Peterson, and Moberg (1990) suggested that one possibility is that students continue to associate counseiling services with guidance counseiling received earlier in high school. The authors suggested that as a result of this association, students are more likely to believe that counseilling is for academic and pragmatic issues, and not personal problems. Therefore, they may not turn to counseiling services for help with personal problems, unless perhaps the personal problem has become severe, recurrent, or is of an urgent nature (Watson & Ault, 1935, cined in McGrath, 1995).

Another reason for not seeking professional help may be due to the stigmatization associated with mental health services. For example, the perception that others may view the help seeker as inferior or helpless may still present an obstacle to students who need to seek help. This may be especially true for men more so than women. In addition, Kuthner & Shor (1991, cited in Deane & Chamberlain, 1994) suggest that "first of treatment" may also be attributed to fears of embarrassment and change.

A third reason for non-use may include a preference for self-reliance as opposed to reliance on external sources of help (Cimbolic, Thompson, & Wald, 1981; Cook et. al., 1984). McGrath (1995) examined sources of help which college students (re-113) would turn to when facing personal problems. In that study, he found that students ranked the sources of help as follows: 1) self, 2) close rifest; 3) close relative; 4) clergyman; 5) counsellor; 6) foculty member; and 7) self member/advior. The author queried nine specific problem areas: 1) romantic relationships; 2) family; 3) friends; 4) substance abuse; 5) secuality; 6) depression; 7) interpersonal relationships; 8) self understanding; and 9) emotional stability. Results indicated that college students generally preferred to rely upon themselves or a close friend for help with all nine problem areas. Counselien were ranked as fifth choice. He also found that students who had previous counselling were more likely to exect counselling again. Also, the type of student problem influenced whether or not a student would seek counselling for help (McGrath, 1995).

In another study of 922 university students and employees, Bush & Radecki-Bush (1995) asked respondents where they would most likely turn to as a preferred source of Delay Most endorsed self-help (72% rated "bandle it yourself") and informal helpers (18.2% consulted a friend or relative). Only 9.2% said they would consult with a psychologist.

Silker (1994) has noted that among help-seckers in his study, the most commonly listed personal concerns were those dealing with anxiety, stress, depression, self-estemriationship issues, and family problems. These areas were explored using the Student Satisfaction Survey to help identify those areas which were of most concern to the students in this sample.

## Demographics

Demographic variables including age, gender, and GPA have been studied in the literature in relation to counselling service usage with contrasting findings. For example, Carmy et al. (1979, cited in McGrath, 1995) found that those students who were most receptive to counselling tended to be younger, undergraduate students living on campus with lower GPA's. Commercity, another sway by Downey & Sinnert (1980, cited in McGrath, 1995) showed that the counselling service user was older, a graduate student, married, in the college of arts and sciences, and employed. Recent studies (Bush & Radecki-Bush, 1995; Deane & Chamberlain, 1994) found that in general, females and 30-40 year olds were more inclined to seek services from psychologists, than were male and younger and older respondents.

It has been widely reported in the literature that females are twice as likely to seek counselling as do males (Deane & Chambertain, 1994; Research Consortium of Counselling and Psychological Services in Higher Education, 1992, client in Good & Wood, 1995; Johnson, Ellison, & Heikkinen, 1999; Noldon & Sedlaeck, 1995; Wills & DePaulo, 1991; Wiseman, Guttfreund, & Larie, 1995). Some research has shown that one in three women as opposed to only one in seven men seek psychological assistance during their lifetime (Collier, 1982, cited in McGrath, 1995; Cook et al., 1984). This does not necessarily mean that women have more problems than men, but that they are more willing to seek help than ære men.

Noldon & Sedlacek (1995) found that men seemed to be more neutral on seeking

educational and vocational counselling than were women and tended to disagree with seeking counselling for emotional and social difficulties. The authors also suggested that women disagreed less with seeking counselling about emotional/social issues than did men and agreed more with seeking educational and vocational counselling.

#### GPA

A student's scademic performance as measured by GPA, has also been investigated with regards to counselling services usage. One of the methods for evaluating counselling reprises are considered to the control of the

A study by Schwitzer, Grogan, Kaddoura & Ochoa (1993) examined the outcome of mandatory college counselling. In that study, they identified students with financial need who were at an increased risk of having scademic problems and gave them a one session consettling intervention. They examined the use of the counselling centre and the general nature of visits to the counselling centre after this initial session. An inverse relationship was found between a student's OPA and the number of voluntary counselling sessions. That is, the students using the counselling centre most often had lower GPA's. Increased usage of the counselling centre was associated with maintenance of enrolment and graduation in the appropriate time frame. Of interest, only 4% of the mandatory meetings involved personal concerns, while 18% of the voluntary sessions had to do with personal matters.

#### Summary

The counselling models of Figan (1994) and Anumdon (1993):1993 as outlined above are method by which to conduct both personal and career connelling. These models are quite useful as a mandard with which to compare the intern's continual development as a counsellor, as well as a basis to construct components of the instrument developed for this study. Furthermore, the intern also attempted to meet the core competencies as indicated in the Statement of Ethics and Standards of Practice for Counselling Services within the College of Angloid Arts and Tackinology (Ontario College Counsellors, 1984). An a counsellor are treated through research to both critically reflect upon personal growth as a counsellor and to provide the college with some feedback in terms of student satisfaction with Counselling Services. The latter goal was pursued with the intentions of contributing to the betterment of the Counselling Services unit, and Student Services at the College of the North Atlantic na a whole

A number of studies have indicated that there is a strong need for research in the area of counselling assessment and this study is in response to this need. Research completed in this area has shown that many college students are no avare that Counselling Services exists and/or are not using such services. One of the purposes of this research was to determine to what degree second year students at the College of the North Atlantic were aware of, and utilized selected services. Reasons for non-use were also elicited.

Attempts were made to investigate both the process and outcomes as well as the general interaction between the counsellor and the student. The present research also sought to determine the relative perceived importance and helpfulness of various counselling services by both users and non-users of Counselling Services. It was hoped that from this analysis, an indication of student needs could be delineated. If perceived helpfulness is a good predictor of successful outcomes, then knowledge of these perceptions can serve to strengthen and/or maintain present levels of student service.

Another aspect of the current study explored the impact of misteris demographic variables such as gender, age, GPA, and program on Counsetiling Services usage. As repreviously noted, it has been widely reported in the literature that finalest send to seek counselling up to twice as often as do makes and that older students tended to seek counselling more than younger students did. Based on these previous findings, it was hypothesized in the current study that finale students would report using Counselling Services more so than males. It was also hypothesized that older students would report using Counselling Services more than younger students.

From previous research, it appears that students using counselling centres most often

had lower GPA's, however, they were more likely to stay in school and persevere in their studies. In the current study, it was hypothesized that students with lower GPA's tended to use Counselling Services more than those students with higher GPA's.

The type of program that the student was entolled in was investigated to determine whether or not there were any significant differences between usage and the program type clither Engineering Technology, Medical Sciences, Community and Applied Arts, or Business). Very little literature was reviewed that would indicate any prediposition for Counselling Services usage based on program type, with the exception of "being in the college of arts and sciences" (Downey & Sianett, 1980, cited in McGrath, 1995). This program status label could apply to either of the four main programs examined in this study, therefore, it was hypothesized that students from the four program categories surveyed were equally likely to seek assistance from Counselling Services.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS

#### Introduction

The intern choice to develop an instrument to elicit students' level of satisfaction, regarding their experiences with Counselling Services. The survey was also used to assess essential counselling competencies and to promote an awareness of Counselling Services at the College of the North Atlantic. The intern constructed the Student Satisfaction Survey to address a number of areas regarding:

- level of student awareness of available Counselling Services;
- 2. student satisfaction and perception of Counselling Services;
- aspects of Counselling Services which students found most helpful;
- 4. anticipated student needs regarding Counselling Services; and,
- impact of demographic variables (gender, age, program type, and GPA) on usage of Counselling Services.

## Development and Structure of the Student Satisfaction Survey (SSS)

The SSS omaissated of three sections. Section One consisted of 15 categorical response questions which were designed to collect sample demographic information from all respondents. The functions of Sections Two and There were to gain information and recludack regarding aspects of Counselling Services from both those students who have used Counselling Services and those who had not, respectively. Section Two consisted of 10 questions of varied type (categorical response, 4- and 5-point Likert scale types, open ended, and forced choice twofilate questions). Section Three consisted of only four questions using similar formats as those found in Section Two (see Appendix A). This type of design was encessary to generate data from both Counselling Services users and non-users. In order to provide context validity, item context for Sections Two and Three of the survey was based on a review of the literature and from ideas generated through discussions with counsellors at the college. The intern selected questions which could be grouped according to the following classifications: awareness of services; use of Causselling Services; the counsellor's skills and knowledges, the counselling process, degree of perceived helpfulness; student needs assessment; and perceptions of the physical fustures of the counselling environment(s).

#### Field Testing

Before administration, the instrument was field tends with several students at the Engineering Technology Centre campus. The field test subjects were predominantly male manging in age from 19-30 years of age. One-third of the field test subjects indicated having used some aspect of Counselling Services; while two-thirds said that they had not used Counselling Services. On average, users completed the survey in approximately 18 minutes, whereas non-users completed it in approximately 10 minutes. After administration, the intern requested reactions about the overall design of the survey, item clerity, format, and content. Students reported that the survey content was presented clearly and was easy to complete. The flowers, during subsequent discussions some students recommended that both Sections Two and Three should have taken similar amounts of time to complete. The implication was that

some students might falsely report that they had not used Counselling Services to complete the survey in a shorter amount of time. However, during field testing the intern observed that all students completed the survey in the anticipated manner, that is, users completed Section Two without comparing the number of questions in Sections Two and Three, Similarly, nonusers completed their respective sections. Despite the non-user group completing the survey quicker, both groups began their respective section at approximately the same time without prior knowledge of any discrepancy in the relative lengths of Sections Two and Three. The assumption was that completion of either Section Two or Three was dependant on the student's response to the last question at the end of Section One and not on the number of questions posed in each section. As a result, the intern decided to maintain the proportion of questions in the two sections. Section Two had the potential to become quite lengthy since its aim was to find out as much as possible about students' experiences with Counselling Services. Before field testing, the intern had condensed Section Two so that it could be completed within 20 minutes, and thus use less class time for administration. The intern did not expand Section Three since its function was different from Section Two: it served to provide the basis of a needs assessment of potential student users, and obtain reasons for non-use of Counselling Services. Additionally, Section Three was included to foster an awareness of Counselling Services within the non-users so that more of these students might then consider using them.

### Research Questions

As noted in the previous section the objectives of the current research were to collect and analyse data related to student awareness, satisfaction, perceptions of helpfulness of Counselling Services, and anticipated student needs. Demographic variables that might impact usage of Counselling Services were also explored. Specifically, the research questions generated for this study were:

- 1. What are some reasons for use and non-use of Counselling Services ?
- 2. Are students aware of selected aspects of Counselling Services?
- How did users become aware of Counselling Services ?
- 4. To what extent were students satisfied with selected aspects of Counselling Services?
- What aspects of Counselling Services were most and least helpful?
- What aspects of Counselling Services do students consider important and necessary?
- 7. Does gender, age, program, or GPA have an impact on Counselling Services usage?
- 8. How do students perceive the Counsellor and the Counselling Process?
- 9. How do students perceive the physical features of Counselling Services?

#### Methodology

Second year students at the College of the North Atlantic were given the opportunity to express their opinion of Counselling Services by completing the Student Satisfaction Survey. The rationale for selecting second year students for this sample was based on the premise that: (a) first year students may not have used Counselling Services, and (b) second year students who had not used Counselling Services would still have within their program to do so, if necessary. Further, limiting the size of the current sample to include only second year students was pacessary to ensure that the protect was manageable.

#### Sampling and Administration Procedures

The College of the North Atlantic offers a variety of programs that can be grouped into three categories: Certificate Level; Djolpona Level; and Post-Djolona programs. Of these categories, the following program areas were longer than one year in duration: Engineering Technology; Business; Community and Applied Arts; and Medical Sciences.

To collect relevant data quickly and efficiently, the intern asked that instructors within these program areas volunteer 15-20 minutes of class time to administer and collect the SSS. During administration it was made clear to students that participation was voluntary, their names were not to be placed anywhere on the survey, and that their responses would remain anonymous.

#### Data Analysis Procedures

The data was collected and coded such that analyses could be carried out primarily using frequency distributions, and in some cases chi-square analyses were conducted to determine if any significant differences were observed between the variables explored. Level of significance was preset at p=0.05.

## Limitations of the Current Study

There are some limitations with respect to the sample and research design. The sample comprised those students who were in their second year of studies. Since the sample consisted of only those programs that lasted longer than one year, the intern may have excluded many students who have used Counselling Services and might have been able to offer feedback. In this regard then, the sample may not be representative of the entire student population within Diariet 7. As well, only 3 campuses of District 7 were solicited (Prince Phillip Drive, Engineering Technology Centre, and Topnail Road Campus). Further, it may not be representative of the entire College population across Newfoundland & Labrador, since only District 7 was surveyed. To be more comprehensive, the SSS would have to be distributed on a provincial level to all students presently exercise at the College of the North Atlantic. Perhavate this could be pursued in a future made involving the SSS.

#### Results and Discussion

#### Sample Demographics: A Student Profile

The surveyed sample was composed of 272 students from PPD campus (54.5%), 169 students from the ETC campus (33.9%), and 5% students from the Topsail Road campus (11.6%) (See Table B1, Appendix B). Fifty-five percent were male and 45% femals (See Table B2, Appendix B). More than 70% of respondents were 24 years of age or younger (See Table B3, Appendix B). Nearly all respondents (90.8%) were enrolled as full-time students (See Table B4, Appendix B) in a variety of programs (See Table B5, Appendix B).

The majority (70.5%) of respondents had spent 13 to 18 months at the College, while 18.2% (N=91) reported having spent less than 12 months at the College (See Table B6, Appendix B). The latter group may be explained partially by students who were given divanced standing in a programs either by transferring credits from another instintion or by challenging for credit through Prior Lenning Assessments for specific courses.

The survey asked that the students identify which broad classification best described

their program. Approximately 40% were enrolled in an Engineering Technology program, 34% were currolled in a Business program, 15% reported that their program fell under the category of Community and Applied Arts, and over 8% were enrolled in Medical Sciences (See Table 87.2 Amondric R).

When asked for specific reasons for taking courses at the College of the North Atlantic, 55% indicated that they were there to earn a vocational certificate, diploma, or complete an apprenticeship. Twenty-six percent reported that they were there to improve present job skills or to get skills for a new job (See Table BR, Appendix B).

The vast majority of respondents (97.2%) did not identify a special need on their application (See Table B9, Appendix B). More than 80% of the sample reported their marital status as single, while common law/married students composed 18.2% of the sample (See Table B10, Appendix B). Eighty-one precent reported having no dependents (See Table B11, Appendix B). Similarly, more than 60% of students reported an annual income of less than \$9000 (See Table B12, Appendix B). The survey also naked that students report their current OPA (which naged from 0-4). Fifty-eight percent reported a GPA greater than 2.99 (See Table B14, Appendix B). In summary, a typical second year student at the College of the North Atlantic is excelled full time, under the age of 24, single with no dependents, unemplowed with low incomes, and more likely to be male.

#### Research Question 1:

#### What are some reasons for use and non-use of Counselling Services?

Of the 499 students surveyed, 22.8% reported having used Counselling Services, while 77.2% reported they had not used Counselling Services (See Table 1).

#### Table 1: Students' reported use of Counselling Services.

Used Counselling Services?	f	%
Yes	114	22.8
No	385	77.2

Users of Counselling Services identified using storing services and student affairs issues (including student aid) primarily. A combined 30% indicated utilizing Counselling Services for career and/or personal counselling as shown in Table 2. Those responding "use of resource room" may have been referring to either using study rooms, tutoring rooms, or career counselling resource rooms.

Table 2: General nature of student visits to Counselling Services (N=114)

General Nature	f	%
Tutoring	53	46.5
Student Affairs issues (including Student Aid)	48	42.1
Personal Counselling	18	15.8
Use of Resource room	18	15.8
Career Counselling	17	14.9
Use of CHOICES, NGR, or other computer based vocational programs	7	6.1
Other	2	1.8

Most of the students reported having not used Counselling Services, with almost 60% suggesting that "everything was going fine in their lives and at college." More than 30% of this non-user group reported that they were unaware of available services; and 26% indicated that they did not have time to use Counselling Services (see Table 3).

Table 3: Reasons identified for not using Counselling Services in the past (N=385),

Reasons	f	%
Everything is going fine in my life and at college	223	57.9
Lack of information / unaware	124	32.2
I didn't have time	100	26.0
Misunderstandings about quality of assistance offered	27	7.0
I didn't want people to know that I needed help for something (Confidentiality)	23	6.0
Only people with "serious" problems use counselling services	14	3.6
Perceived cost	13	3.4
Counsellors were too busy to fit me in	5	1.3
Other	30	7.8

It was encouraging to see that many students were not experiencing any major difficulties. However, it was disconcerting to observe that 124 students were unaware of the envirces provided by Counselling Services. These students may have required assistance but possibly did not know how and where to access help. Also of concern were the 26% who foil they "didn't have time" to deal with issues which may have caused undue difficulties as they went through their program. Quite a number of these students could have benefited from time management training in order to benefit from all aspects of the college experience, including elements provided by Counselling Services, and Student Services.

Other reasons for not using Counseilling Services included comments such as "I would prefer to talk to family or friends," and "I like to deal with the problem myself-rather than talk to counseillors." Others simply did not want to go, or were not sure of what Counseilling Services offered. Agreement with response statements such as "I did not want people to know that I needed help for something (confidentiality)", or "only people with "revirous" problems use counseilling services' tend to support the pensistent stigma that unfortunately still exists about prereceions of counseilling in general.

## Research Question 2:

## Are students aware of selected aspects of Counselling Services?

To address this research question, trudents responded to right statements to determine awareness. As seen in Table 4, more users indicated an awareness of selected services than did non-users. For example, 64% of users and only 42% of non-users were aware that Counselling Services was offering Student Success Sessions. Similarly, 37.9 % users and 20.4% non-users were aware that counsellors could make referrals to outside agencies if the need arose. It seems that most students were aware that tutoring was available (67.5% users; 75.7% non-users) however they were not as aware of some details involved with the tutoring program such as signing of contracts, group nutering, and notor qualifications.

Unfortunately, only 27.2% of users and 18.1 % of non-users were aware that a Learning Specialist was on staff in District 7. Also, about half of the user group and less than one third of non-users were aware that program accommodations could be requested for students with documented learning disabilities. Knowledge of these services would undoubtedly prove to be invaluable to many students with learning disabilities.

Table 4: Student awareness of selected Counselling Services,

		Users			Non-users	91
		3.	%		•	*
Did you know that	z	YES	ON	z	YES	N N
Tutors are free and available to all students through Counselling Services?	%	87.5	12.5	378	75.7	243
Tutors are usually senior students or program graduates and MUST be recommended by the course instructor?	56	77.9	22.1	379	67.5	32.5
Contracts are signed between the student tutor, the student, and the Student Services division prior to tutoring?	¥	70.2	29.8	378	46.3	53.7
Group tutoring is available?	96	66.7	33.3	378	53.4	46.6
Student success sessions on topics including Stress Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting, Study Skills, etc., are offered free of charge to College of the North Atlantic Students?	96	64.6	35.4	379	42.0	58.0
Program accommodations can be requested for students with documented learning disabilities?	96	91.6	48.4	377	31.8	68.2
Outside Referrals can be made?	95	37.9	62.1	377	20.4	79.6
St. John's District has a learning specialist on staff?	95	27.2	56.1	376	18.1	6.18

As seen in Question 2 above, many students may not be fully aware of varying aspects of Counselling Services. When asked for auggestions about how to improve Counselling Services, almost 60% of 74 non-users who responded to this item suggested that owneal they were unaware of existing Counselling Services (See Table CS in Appendix C). This finding supports the claim that the issue of enhancing student awareness needs to be addressed. It highlights the need for other creative methods of getting the information to the student body as a whole. Some students requested reminders about what services were available and where they could go to avail of them. Other respondents suggested that year-end Counselling Services seminans or checkups would enhance awareness (see Table CS in Appendix C).

#### Research Question 3:

## How did users become aware of Counselling Services?

To investigate this research question, the survey saked the users group to report how they became aware of Counselling Services (see Table 5). Most users indicated becoming aware of Counselling Services primarily through instructors, friends, and Fall semester orientation. This information is important since it demonstrates routes that have been effective in reaching some students.

Table 5: How students found out about Counselling Services (N=114).

	f	%
Found out through instructor	37	32.5
Classmate/friend	28	24.6
During orientation at the beginning of the term	26	22.8
College publications	19	16.7
Counsellor classroom visit	17	14.9
Coincidental	5	4.4

## Research Question 4:

# To what extent were students satisfied with selected aspects of Counselling Services? Understanding Counselling Services users' perceptions of, and satisfaction with, the

quality of assistance received is very important. Often the commelling process begins when the student enters the Counselling Services office. The manner in which they are treated upon initial contact could influence their subsequent perceptions of counselling, and therefore quite possibly the outcome. The survey asked that students respond to an open-ended question naking how they were treated initially at Counselling Services. These results are presented below in Table 6.

Table 6: Student reports of initial treatment at Counselling Services (N = 78),

Response	f	%
Okay/good/well	30	38.5
Very good/very well	14	17.9
Excellent/quickly & efficiently	11	14.1
Friendly	8	10.3
Respectfully	8	10.3
Comfortably	7	9.0
Counsellors were attentive	7	9.0
Fairty	3	3.8
Important	2	2.6
Great - like one of the family	1	1.3
Poorly - got the 'run-around'	1	1.3
NO RESPONSE	36	46.2

Note. Percentages total greater than 100 since multiple responses were aggregated.

Only one student reported being treated poorly. The remaining 77 respondents reported positive encounters. Unfortunately, many of the user group of students (N=36) did not respond to this question.

Another factor linked with Counselling Services satisfaction was the length of the wait required for an appointment. As seen in Table 7, more than 80% indicated that they could see a counsellor either the same day or the following day. Only one student reported having to wait longer than one week. Overall, these neutiles could be interpreted as indicating a positive level of satisfaction regarding access to counsellors.

Table 7: Length of wait for an appointment with a counsellor.

	f	%
Same day	58	60.4
Next day	19	19.8
Within a week	18	18.8
Longer than a week	1	1.0

#### Research Question 5:

## What aspects of Counselling Services were most and least helpful?

Students who used Counselling Services were given an opportunity to rate how helpful specific aspects of Counselling Services were. Ratings were given as either Not at all helpful; Somewhat helpful; Helpful; or Very helpful (see Table 8).

Over 99% of respondents recorned that overall services nerovided by the counsellors.

were to some degree helpful. As well, more than 97% of respondents felt that they could get help with their particular issue. Approximately 94% felt that the secretaries/frost desk staff were helpful to some degree with almost 40% of respondents citing them as very helpful. Over 50% of respondents reported that the tutoring program was helpful to some extent, and that help with program stress, test atociety, time management, personal stress, financial advising was helpful.

Despite an overall high perception of helpfulness of most items surveyed, those aspects with the highest percentage endorsed as "not at all helpful" were (a) assistance with family issues (37.1%), (b) completion of an interest inventory (36.1%), (c) assistance for depression (31.4%), (d) help with program modifications (31.3%), and (e) assistance in deciding the right program (29.2 %).

Table 8: Degree of helpfulness of specific aspects of Counselling Services.

		Not at all helpful	Somewhat Helpful	Helpful	Very Helpful
Specific Aspect	z	%	%	%	%
Tutoring program	74	12.2	13.5	32.4	41.9
The overall services provided by the counsellors	107	3.7	11.2	43.9	1.1
Help with your issue	107	2.8	16.8	37.4	40.4
The secretaries/front desk staff	107	9.6	20.6	34.6	39.3
Financial advising	89	18.6	11.9	35.6	33.9
Discussing special needs with a counsellor	5	13.3	28.9	28.9	28.9
Help with improving study skills	22	23.1	19.2	30.8	26.9
Help with personal stress	47	1.61	23.4	31.9	25.5
Assistance in deciding which program was right for me	86	29.2	14.6	31.3	25.0
Adjustment to college life	45	24.4	11.1	40.0	24.4

Table 8: Degree of helpfulness of specific aspects of Counselling Services (Conti-

		Not at all helpful	Somewhat Helpful	Helpful	Very Helpful
Specific Aspect	z	×	×	%	%
Rethinking present course/career choices	S	20.8	15.1	41.5	22.6
Academic assistance received	83	8.4	22.9	47.0	21.7
Help with time management	48	16.7	25.0	39.6	18.8
Help with Self-esteem issues	38	21.1	26.3	34.2	18.4
Help with program stress	47	14.9	27.7	40.4	17.0
Help with program modifications	48	31.3	20.8	31.3	16.7
Student Success Seminars	49	24.5	24.5	34.7	16.3
Help with social difficulties	40	25.0	22.5	37.5	15.0
Help with Family issues	35	37.1	20.0	28.6	14.3
Help to cope with depression	35	31.4	28.6	28.6	11.4
Completing an interest inventory	36	36.1	19.4	33.3	=
Help with Test Anxiety	40	22.5	27.5	40.0	10.0

# Research Question 6:

# What aspects of Counselling Services do students consider important and necessary?

Tables 9a & 9b present student feedback regarding the relative importance of selected Counselling Services from both user and non-user groups, respectively. Overall, a higher percentage of users tended to rate selected connelling services as important when compared with non-user students. Both groups first that receiving information about job options/futures upon completion of their program was a very important function of Counselling Services (users – 90%, non-users = 93.5%). Related to this need, many students suggested that Job placement services would also be very important (users = 93%, non-users = 84%). A third area of Counselling Services that a strong majority of students rated as important was acrear quidance (users = 80%, non-users = 77.6%). Student Aid was also seen as important by both groups, althought it was endorred as important by a slightly greater percentage of users.

It was interesting to note that personal counselling for issues such as dealing with stress, anxiety, or assertiveness training were rated much less important than was expected. In fact, approximately half in either group indicated that they were unimportant. Least important as indicated by both groups were marital counselling (users = 74.1%, non-users = 81.7%) and issues of self-esteem (users = 74.9%, non-users = 63.9%).

Also of interest was the finding that only 37.39% of users felt that becoming a tutor was important, whereas 75% felt that receiving tutoring was important. A similar trend was recen among non-users, however the difference was not as marked (34.1% and 57.2%, resencively).

Table 9a: User student feedback as to the importance of selected Counselling Services.

			%
Receiving information about:	N	Unimportant	Importan
Job options/futures	110	10.0	90.0
Career guidance	110	20.0	80.0
Determining my interests	109	29.4	70.7
College regulations	110	45.4	54.5
Personal Counselling:			
Time management	110	40.9	59.1
Crisis resolution	110	44.5	55.5
General stress	111	45.1	54.9
Coping with anxiety	109	45.9	54.2
Assertiveness training	109	54.1	45.8
Self-esteem issues	108	57.4	42.6
Coping with depression	108	38.3	41.7
Dealing with marital conflict	108	74.1	25.9
Academic Assistance:			
Receiving tutoring	108	25.0	75.0
Student success seminars	111	42.3	57.6
Becoming a tutor	107	62.6	37.3
Other			
Job placement services	111	9.0	91.0
Student aid information	111	18.0	82.0

Table 9b: Non-user student feedback as to the importance of selected Counselling Services.

			%
Receiving information about:	N	Unimportant	Important
Job options/futures	382	6.6	93.4
Career guidance	380	22.4	77.6
Determining my interests	378	39.4	60.6
College regulations	378	49.5	50.5
Personal Counselling:			
Time management	381	43.3	56.7
General stress	381	46.2	53.8
Assertiveness training	380	54.4	45.6
Coping with anxiety	381	54.6	45.4
Crisis resolution	382	55.5	44.5
Coping with depression	379	58.1	40.9
Self-esteem issues	380	63.9	36.1
Dealing with marital conflict	378	81.7	18.3
Academic Assistance:			
Receiving tutoring	381	41.8	57.2
Student success seminars	378	49.2	50.8
Becoming a tutor	378	69.9	34.1
Other			
Job placement services	380	10.6	89.4
Student aid information	381	30.5	69.5

# Research Ouestion 7:

Does Gender, Age, Program Type, or GPA have an impact on Counselling Services

This four part research question explores whether there were any significant differences with respect to gender, age, program, or GPA on Counselling Services usage.

# Gender

It was hypothesized that gender would produce significant differences associated with Counselling Services wage, such that more females than males would use Counselling Services. An noted in Table BB (Appendix B), the sample was composed of 55.4% male and 45.6 % female. It was found that 24.0 % for females indicated that they have used one or more aspects of Counselling Services, whereas 21.8 % of the males indicated having used one or more aspects of Counselling Services. A chi-square analysis (including both user & non-user groups) indicated that there was not a significant difference between females and males  $(\chi^2 = 0.32, p = 0.57, 8ec$  Table 10a). However, from the data, it can be seen that slightly, although not significantly, more females indicated that they have used one or more aspects of Counselling Services has did males.

Table 10a: Comparison of males to females with respect to usage of Counselling Services.

	Ma	les	Fen	nales
	f	%	f	%
Users	60	21.8	53	24.0
Non-users	215	78.2	168	76.0

Note,  $\chi^2 = 0.32$ , p = 0.57

Age

Age was investigated to determine if it was an influencing variable on Counselling Services usage. This knowledge is important for Counselling Services to be aware of since each age group will often present different counselling concerns. If the typical age group of the users is known, then the types of problems associated with various life stages may be better anticipated and accommodated. The majority of all students surveyed were 24 years of age or less. However, it was hypothesized that older students would use Counselling Services more than would younger students.

A chi-square analysis was conducted on the ample comparing the variable of usage across four levels of age categories, yielding a significant difference between the age categories and users and non-users of Counselling Services Q<sup>2</sup> = 13.35, p <0.05) (See Table 10b). Of the group of students 30 years and older, more were likely to use Counselling Services than students aged 20 years and younger. The general trend observed across all four age categories attributes increasing use, proportionately, with increasing use. Based on these results, the hypothesis is supported: age is a factor in Counselling Services usage with more of those in the older group seeking help.

Table 10b: Frequency and percentage of users and non-users based on age.

	< 21	) yrs	21-2	4 yrs	25-2	29 yrs	30	+ yrs
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Users	21	14.2	52	25.6	18	22.2	23	35.9
Non-users	127	85.8	151	74.4	63	77.8	41	64.1

Note.  $\chi^2 = 13.35$ , p = 0.003

# Program Type

It was hypothesized that students from the four program categories surveyed were equally likely to seek assistance from Counselling Services. This was tested by examining separately the percentage of male and female users and non-users for each program area. Consideration of gender was necessary since some program areas may be predominantly maile or female, and therefore distinction by program alone may have been possibly confounded by gender.

#### Program Type x Reported Usage (Males)

An analysis of male was of Counselling Services by program type (see Table 10c) shows that a greater proportion of male Business students (25.5%) reported to have used Counselling Services compared to male Engineering Technology students (21.5%), male Community and Applied Arts students (19.0%); and male Medical Science students (16.7%). However, while this trend may appear to be occurring in the data, a chi-square analysis indicated that there were no significant differences in male usage of Counselling Services by program type  $(\chi^2 = 0.717, prol.869)$ .

Table 10c: A comparison of male users and non-users of Counselling Services based on program categories (N=265).

		neering nology		dical ences	Bus	iness		unity & ed Arts
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Users	38	21.5	2	16.7	14	25.5	4	19.0
Non-users	139	78.5	10	83.3	41	74.5	17	81.0

Note.  $\chi^2 = 0.717$ , p = 0.869

#### Program Type x Reported Usage (Females)

An analysis of female use of Counselling Services by program type (see Table 10d) indicates that a greater proportion of female Engineering Technology students (33.3%) reported to have used Counselling Services more than female Business students (27.0%), fermale Community and Applied Arts students (245.5%), and female Medical Science students (6.5%). A chi-square analysis, however, indicated no statistically significant differences in fermale usage of Counselling Services by program type Q<sup>2</sup> = 6.90, pr0.075).

Table 10d: A comparison of female users and non-users of Counselling Services based on program categories (N=219).

			dical ences	Bus	iness		unity & ed Arts
f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
8	33.3	2	6.5	30	27.0	13	24.5
16	66.7	29	93.5	81	73.0	40	75.5
	f 8 16	8 33.3	Technology Science	Technology         Sciences           f         %         f         %           8         33.3         2         6.5           16         66.7         29         93.5	r         %         r         %         r           8         33.3         2         6.5         30           16         66.7         29         93.5         81	Technology         Sciences           f         %         f         %         f         %           8         33.3         2         6.5         30         27.0           16         66.7         29         93.5         81         73.0	Technology         Sciences         Appli           f         %         f         %         f           8         33.3         2         6.5         30         27.0         13           16         66.7         29         93.5         81         73.0         40

#### **GPA**

It was hypothesized that students with lower GPA's used Counselling Services more than those students with higher GPA's. It was noted that almost 66% of all students surveyed indicated that their average college GPA was 3.00 or higher, while approximately 40% of the sample reported GPA's of 2.99 or lower. An analysis of student GPA's shows that proportionately more students with, GPA's of 2.99 or less (25.5%) tuded to seek Counselling Services compared to those students whose GPA's were 3.00 or greater (20.6%). However, a chi-square analysis indicated that there was no significant difference between

these two groups ( $\chi^2 = 1.59$ , p=0.206) with regards to usage of Counselling Services (see Table 10e).

Table 10e: Comparison of GPA's of users and non-users of Counselling Services (N=486)

GPA	3.00 o	r higher	2.99	or less
	f	%	f	%
Users	59	20.6	51	25.5
Non-users	227	79.4	149	74.5

Note.  $\chi^2 = 1.59$ , p = 0.206

# Research Question 8:

# How do students perceive the Counsellor and the Counselling Process?

In examining this research question, students were asked to respond with either "yes" or "no" to questions regarding their perceptions of various aspects of the counselling process.

All those aspects of the counselling process surveyed seem to have met with very positive ratings (see Table 11). The students reported being made to feel comfortable before, during, and after the counselling sessions. Students reported that counsellors were attentive and objective listeners; understanding, well informed regarding college services, policies, and procedures; made every reasonable effort to assist them; and cated in a professional manner. Over 88% of students indicated that adequate time was spent to meet their needs.

With respect to counselling outcomes, almost 94% aid that counselling helped them to deal more effectively with their concerns, and over 97% indicated that they would recommend Counselling Services to their friends. More than 94% reported that they would return for further counselline if necessary.

Table 11: Ratings of selected counsellor and counselling process attributes.

	z	YES	NO
Did the counsellor make you feel comfortable before your session(s)?	96	67.9	2.1
Did the counsellor make you feel comfortable during your session(s)?	96	0'66	0'1
Did the counsellor make you feel comfortable after your session(s)?	96	67.6	2.1
Did the counsellor remain objective during your session(s)?	\$6	8'96	3,2
Was an adequate amount of time spent to meet your needs?	8	88.5	11.5
Did the counsellor seem to understand your presenting issue?	96	61.6	2.1
Did the counselfor act in a professional manner?	96	100.0	۰
Did the counsellor explain issues of confidentiality during sessions with you?	z	8.67	20.2
Was the counsellor well informed about current college services, policies, and procedures?	98	636	=
I became more confused than I was before I went for counselling.	86	18.9	81.1
Did the counsellor listen attentively to you?	z	100.0	0
Did the counsellor make every reasonable effort to assist you?	86	7.76	5.3
Did counselling help you to deal more effectively with your concerns?	z	93.6	6.4
Would you recommend Counselling Services to your friends?	z	67.6	2.1
Based on your experience, if you needed further counselling would you return to Counselling. Services ?	z	94.7	5,3

# Research Question 9:

#### How do students perceive the physical features of Counselling Services?

As demonstrated in Table 12, it is evident that most students were satisfied with the physical aervironments of Counselling Services at the College of the North Atlantic. The data presented represent the combined results from user groups from 3 different campuses: Prince Phillip Drive, Engineering Technology Centre, and Topsail Road Campus. Counselling Service at these campus locations vary somewhat with regards to physical layout as well as resources. Most students indicated that Counselling Services was not difficult to find (89.9%), and that there were enough resources available on site to meet their needs (81.6%). Table 12: Student fredback with respect to the physical environment of Counselling Services offereds.

		9	6
Physical Environment	N	YES	NO
Was Student Services difficult to find?	99	10.1	89.9
Were there enough resources available on site?	98	81.6	18.4
Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the waiting area?	97	70.1	29.9
Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the counsellor's office?	95	91.6	8.4
Were noise levels outside the office a distraction during sessions?	94	34.0	66.0
Was the quality of lighting suitable within the counsellor's office?	93	90.3	9.7
Was the quality of air ventilation suitable within the counsellor's office?	94	83.0	17.0
Was the temperature in the counsellor's office suitable?	94	84.0	16.0

# CHAPTER V

# SUMMARY

#### Internship Goals

A counselling intern at the College of the North Allantic is faced with many daily challenges and activities. A review of the activities documented in Chapters I and I of this report readily lend support to this claim. The counsellor's role is that of assessor, consultant, mediator, and provider of personal, career, and academic counselling. Occasionally these roles tent to overlap to the point where it is sometimes difficult to clearly differentiate between them. As a result of these divergent roles, the counsellor should possess range of core counsellor competencies in order to adequately meet the needs of the student. During formal graduate studies, the intern was exposed to and developed specific counselling techniques which were put into practice during the internablp. Ocals for the internablp were related to counselling, psycho-obcasional and vocational assessment, consultation, and further development of knowledge. Specific goals met during the internablp have been described exensively earlier in Chapter II of this document.

Counsellors should concern themselves with continuous evaluation of the services they provide to ensure that student needs are adequately met. It is for this reason that the intern chose to evaluate selected aspects of Counselling Services at the College of the North Atlantic. This was approached by investigating reported levels of student satisfaction with Counselling Services. To accomplish this goal, the intern developed a questionnaire to explore a number of research questions. A summary and discussion of the findings are presented in the following section.

## Research Results

#### Counselling Services Use and Awareness Issues

Of the 499 madents surveyed, 22.8% reported having used Counselling Services, while 77.2% reported they had not used Counselling Services. Users of Counselling Services identified primarily using tunoring services and madent affairs insue (including members). Tutoring services appear to be well utilized by students. Approximately 30% of users indicated visiting Counselling Services for career and/or personal counselling. Career counselling ranged from providing information or various careers and programs to an indepth exploration of the students' interests, expectations, and choice of educational and career goals. Students seeking personal counselling generally requested assistance for issues related to low self-esteem, addictions, family difficulties, coping with stress, study skills, time management, intimate relationships, assertiveness training, anxiety, depression, and patterns of communication. Some of these personal issues were similar to those predicted by Silker (1994) who noted that among help-seckers in his study, the most commonely listed personal concerns were those dealing with anxiety, stress, depression, self-esteem, relationship issues, and family problems.

The majority of students reported having not used Counselling Services responding that "everything was going fine in their lives and at college." More than 30% of non-users reported that they were unaware of available services; and 20% indicated that they did not have time to use Counselling Services. If one were to extrapolate base results to the whole population of District 7 of the College of the North Atlantic in the fall of 1997 (approximately 2800 students), there may be as many as 49d students whose needs are not

being met through either a lack of awarmens or by the student's sense of time pressures preventing them from dealing with issues inhibiting them from reaching their full potential. These obstacles can and should be modified with systematic changes in the present means of disseminanting information about Counselling Services and reducing heavy course loads each term.

McGrath (1995) has stated that counsellies should make every conceivable effort to educate students about the benefits that counselling can provide. The present study reiterates this assertion. Overall, students indicated that they were somewhat aware of Counselling Services with a higher percentage of suers indicating more awareness than non-users. A number of non-users reported being unaware of Counselling Services. Neither group were particularly aware that a Learning Specialist was on saff during the time that this survey was being administered. Also, approximately only 50% of users and 30% of non-users were ware that program accommodations could be requested for tudents with documented learning disabilities. As mentioned proviously, student knowledge of these services would undoubtedly prove to be invaluable to students who are struggling with learning disabilities.

Aside from being unaware of services and having very little time to use them, many students commented that they would prefer to talk to family or friends, or deal with problems by themselves rather than talking to counseline. Others stated they simply did not want to go, or were not sture of what Counselling Services offered. Those who agreed with responses such as "I did not want people to know that I needed help for something (confidentiality)", or "only people with 'terious' problems use Counselling Services' unfortunately lead support to the negative stigma which still exists surrounding perceptions of counselling in

general. Similar findings have been are reported elsewhere in the literature (Bush & Radecki-Bush, 1995; Carney, Peterson, & Moberg, 1990; Cimbolic, Thompson, & Wald, 1981; Cook et al., 1984; Hongeler, Harbin, & Sallis, 1982; Kushner & Sher, 1991, cited in Denne & Chamberlain, 1994. McGrath, 1995).

McGrath (1995) recommends training peer counsellors, family members, and promoting workshops designed to aid the student in developing better ways of coping with problems. This latter recommendation has been previously implemented at the College of the North Atlantic in the form of the Student Success Seminar series. It would be beneficial to the college to investigate the utility of peer counsellors in addition to the peer tutoring program which is currently in place. Pethaps students may be more comfortable, or more likely to consult with, beer counsellors rather than reofessional counsellors.

Some students indicated becoming aware of Counselling Services primurily through instructors, friends, and Fall orientation. This information serves as important feedback to Counselling Services since it demonstrates routes that have been effective in reaching some students. Although, the fact that there are still many students who are not fully wanware of all Counselling Services highlights the need for other creative methods of getting the information 'out there' to the student body as a whole. Some students suggested reminders about available services throughout the term. Other respondents suggested that year end Counselling Services seminars or checkups would serve to enhance awareness. Some respondents noted that surveys such as the Student Satisfaction Survey may also be effective in promoting Counselling Services awareness.

#### Satisfaction with Counselling Services

The relationship between Counselling Services and a student often begins as soon as the student enters the office. The type of reception that the student receives at the point of entry will undoubtedly shape the student's expectancy of the outcome of counselling/assistance. If this is the case, then acquiring knowledge of the student's perception of the quality of this assistance is important. Only one student reported being treated poorly and that they had gotten the 'run-around.' The vast majority of users described their experiences positively using descriptors such as "okay/good/well, very good/very well, excellent, quick & efficient, friendly, comfortable, respectful, fair, important, and great-like onne of the family!" The secretaries/brut desk staff were found to be very helpful. Another factor linked with Counselling Services satisfaction was the length of the vair required for an appointment. More than 80% of respondents indicated they could see a counsellor on either the same day or the following day. Only one student reported having to wait longer than one weet. These findings suggest an overall positive view of satisfaction.

This overall positive report of antifaction is additionally strengthened by the findings that over 95% of respondents reported that services provided by the counsellers were helpful to some degree, and that they received help with their particular issue. Other suspects which were considered to be helpful included the tutoring program as well as assistance with program stress, set anxiety, time management, personal stress, and financial advising.

Among those services that were most often endorsed as "not at all helpful" were assistance with family issues (7.1%); completion of an interest inventory (36.1%); assistance for depression (31.4%), help with program modifications (31.3%), and assistance in deciding the right program (32.2%). These findings suggest that these areas should be

further investigated by Counselling Services to determine why these areas were perceived less favourably. Does this represent an actual deficit in service or are these services seen as not important for this population? It appears that 74% of students viewed "dealing with marital conflict" as unimportant. This finding is not surprising given that over 80% of the sample were single students.

Studens considered job placement services and obtaining information on job options/futures to be an important component of Counselling Services. This student remphasis on employability has been received by the College of the North Atlantic as evident by the college's recent implementation of campus-based Career & Employability Centres. These centers were proposed as a result of the Career and Employability Consultation model which was presented by Dr. Phill Patula and Mr. Brian Tobia (1997) and was described briefly in Chapter II of this document. The purpose of these centres was to focus efforts on those factors which contribute most to the student's ability to seek out and gain satisfactory and meaningful employment in areas relevant to their area of study. Such factors may include developing interviewing skills, writing effective resumes, increasing knowledge of job options and availability as well as provision of fitness access for employment searches. The effectiveness of the Career & Employability Centres is an area which should receive require evaluation in future Consenting Services research.

Personal counselling issues such as stress and anxiety management, and assertiveness training were seen as somewhat less important than expected. However, this finding does not imply that personal issues are not important to many students. In fact, 16% of users indicated receiving help for personal issues. Obviously, a number of these students have benefited from these services. If awareness were increased and the stigma surrounding helpseeking behavior were decreased, many more individuals dealing with personal issues would undoubtedly be helped.

# Impact of Gender, Age, Program Type, and GPA on use of Counselling Services Gender

Based on research findings reported previously in the literature, it was bypothesized that females would report using Counselling Services significantly more than males. The results of the present study do not support these previous findings. It appears from the data (24.0% females: 21.8% males) that slightly, about not significantly, more females indicated that they have used one or more aspects of Counselling Services than did males.

#### Age

It was hypothesized that older mulests were more likely to neck consestling services than were younger students. This hypothesis was supported in that proportionately, students Joycars of age and older were more likely to use Counselling Services than student aged 20 years of age and younger, although the largest user group were the 21-24 year olds since these made up more than half of all students surveyed. For the most part, a positive trend was observed across all four age categories with increasing use coinciding with increasing age. Age, therefore, is a variable which impacts of Counselling Services usage.

It was interesting to find that more of the older group of students tended to use Counselling Services more proportionately than younger students. In light of this finding, it

is necessary to ensure that the older student's needs are met. This is a task that many college student services have faced. For example, Rice (1991) observed that at the University of South Carolina at Lancaster older students were having more academic difficulties, their needs were not determined, and previous programming for the older student was deemed to be inadequate. In an attempt to remedy this, the Peer Intervention Program was developed. Three peers were trained to maintain structured telephone contact with identified at-risk students throughout the year. During this time they would provide college related information to these students, inquire as to whether or not they were having any additional difficulties, as well as determine their needs as a group. Rice (1991) found that 96% of the targeted students responded favourably. This initiative helped 66% of the older students with a college related difficulty. In addition, Rice reported that retention rates increased by 20%. GPA's increased by 29%, and withdrawal from courses decreased by 12%. Rice reported that the information collected regarding student needs was catalogued and used to make adjustments in counselling service delivery. Among the suggestions provided by the students through the Student Satisfaction Survey were statements such as "provide better services for older students". Perhans, an initiative similar to that described in Rice's study could be implemented at the College of the North Atlantic to better gauge, the needs of the older student as well as to prevent attrition and academic difficulties in this population.

### Program Type

It was hypothesized that students from the four categories surveyed were equally likely to use Counselling Services for difficulties arising during studies at the College of the North Atlantic. This hypothesis was tested by examining the percentage of male and female users and non-users for each program area. It was felt that consideration of gender was necessary since some program areas may be predominantly made or female, and therefore distinction by program alone could have been confounded by gender.

An analysis of male use of Connetlling Services by program type shows that a greater proportion of male Business students (25.5%) reported to have used Counselling Services compared to male Engineering Technology students (21.5%), male Community and Applied Arts students (19.0%); and male Medical Science students (16.7%). However, no significant differences in male usage of Counselling Services by program type were found.

An analysis of female use of Counselling Services by program type indicates that a greater proportion of fermale Engineering Technology students (3.3.3%) reported to have used Counselling Services more than female Business students (2.7.0%), female Community and Applied Arts students (24.5%), and female Medical Science students (6.5%). However, as seen with male nudents, no statistically significant differences were found with respect to female usage of Counselling Services as a function of membership in a specified program tree.

It should also be noted that these programs were housed in different campuses with different counsellors and Counselling Services centres at each campus. Medical Science students were located at TRC, Engineering Technology students at ETC, Applied Arts and Business students at PPD campus. At the time of this survey, one of the counsellors at PPD made hinself readily available to TRC at least twice a week, however there was generally a counsellor stationed at both ETC and PPD everyday. Furthermore, the majority of resources were maintained at ETC and PPD campuses. If students required access to these resources, they would travel to these campuses and use them.

# GPA

It was hypothesized that students with lower OPA's used Counselling Services more than those students with higher GPA's. An analysis of user GPA scores showed that madents with OPA's of 2.99 or less tended to use Counselling Services more than those students with GPA's of 3.00 or greater, but again, these differences were not statistically significant.

# Perceptions of Counselling Services

Those aspects of the connecting process that were surveyed seem to have been met with very positive ratings. The students reported fletting comfortable before, during, and after the counselling sessions. Students reported that counsellors were attentive and objective listeners, understanding, well informed regarding college services, policies, and procedures, made every reasonable effort to assist them, and acted in a professional manner. Over 88% of students indicated that adequate time was spent to meet their needs.

With respect to counselling outcomes, almost 94% said that counselling helped them to deal more effectively with their concerns, and over 97% indicated that they would recommend Counselling Services to their fitiends. More than 94% reported that they would return for further counselling if necessary. With such highly positive student reports, it appears that the counsellors at the College of the North Atlantic are doing a very fine job, and they are to be commended for their efforts.

Students proceived the physical features of the Counselling Services offices as being satisfactory for the most part. They reported that Counselling Services offices were as being satisfactory for the most part. They reported that Counselling Services offices were difficult to find, and that sufficient resources were available on site to meet their needs. Office lighting, air quality, and temperature were reported to be suitable and seating within the counsellor's office was considered to be satisfactory and comforting. However, almost 30% did not find the seating arrangements satisfactory or comforting in the waiting area. Also of concern in the finding that 34% repondents indicated that noise levels outside the office were districted furing session. Together, this information may provide additional reasons for students non-use. For example, if students feel that their confidentiality is being compromised by either being seem or overheard by other students waiting past or dropping into Counselling Services five purposes other than receiving Counselling Services, then students may be less inclined to seek help. This needs to be addressed to ensure that the privacy of all students who use Counselling Services is kept confidential.

It should be noted that since the Student Satisfaction Survey was administered, Counselling Services at the Prince Phillip Drive campus has moved and the office layout has been modified, therefore results pertaining to physical features may not accurately reflect current student opinion of the new location.

# Criticisms of the Student Satisfaction Survey

The following section notes some critical revisions to future versions of the Student Satisfaction Survey.

Section 1: QLS Part D: It is unclear what students meant by "use of resource room" since they may have been referring to either using study rooms, tutoring rooms, or career counselling resource rooms. In future versions of the SSS, this response item should be made observer.

Section I: Q15 Part F: Reference to student aid should not have been made. A point of clarification needs to be made here. Student Aid loans were distributed to students vid. Counselling Services offices. In hind sight, the inclusion of Student Aid may have yielded a greater number of students who indicated using Counselling Services, when they may have only picked up their student toon at the Counselling Services office. This is not true for all case, however, since some of these students who indicated they had used Counselling Services for student affairs issues including Student Aid also endorsed other reasons for Counselling Services was a student who indicated they had used Counselling Services for student affairs issues including Student Aid also endorsed other reasons for Counselling Services was a service was

In Section II, Q. 23 Parts C; "Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the waiting area?" and D: "Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the counsellor's office?" should have used the wording comfortable rather than comforting.

Section II Q.24 and Section III Q.28 "Didy you know" P sections of the SSS should be more inclusive and representative of other services offered by Counselling Services. In retrospect, it seems that approximately 50% of the items there dealt with specifics of the tutoring program.

# Suggestions for Improvement

Thurman & Malaney (1998, cited in Noldon & Sedlacek, 1995), wrote that "the input of students is an important component in the decision-making process of student affairs faculty and administrators". Therefore, opportunities were provided on the Student statisfaction Survey for students to make suggestions on how to improve Counselling Services. Refer to Table C5 in Appendix C for a complete description of comments and suggestions.

Not all of the suggestions were directly related to Counselling Services (i.e., computer equipment needed, more microwaves needed, and program complaints), however there were some suggestions that were relevant. The majority of these focussed on ways to relate information to students. For example, a monthly newsletter could contain information on career opportunities, employment rates and statistics, scholarships, prior learning assessments, student loan issues, and other services. One student suggested a Counselling Services webpage on the Internet. At this time there is such a webpage at the following address: http://www.northatlantic.nf.ca. The student services webpage can be found by following the links presented there. Another student suggested using a Frequently Asked Ouestions (FAO) computer. This idea would involve placing information terminals at various locations on campus, each with a database of information relevant to questions commonly posed by students. The student noted that such terminals could reduce waiting in line-ups. This may also be a way to circumvent stigma associated with help-seeking. The FAQ could easily be incorporated into the Student Services webpage, thereby providing further unrestricted access to the information

Other suggestions called for reorganization of scheduling for the Student Success Sessions so that more students are able to avail of them. Also in line with this is a proposal for extending the hours of operation of Counselling Services for those students who do not sufficient time in their schedules to utilize the services.

Students were asked which services should be offered by Counselling Services.

Virtually all respondents (99.1%) indicated that career information should be offered (see
Table 13). A high percentage of students indicated that peer tutoring should be provided
(97.2%), assistance in determining areas of career interest (90.7%), as well as help with study
(818, 88.8%). These services are currently being offered through Counselling Services.

The suggestions 'full time job placement services' and "more computers on site for

electronic job searches" were also made and these suggestions were discussed during the Career and Employability Center Development committee meetings. While it was not possible to provide "full time job placement services" at that time, efforts were directed towards putting in place methods of enhancing the employability of students so that they are in a better position to gain employment. To add in the student's pursuit of employment, it was proposed by the CEC Development committee that the students would have access to computers for electronic job searches (via Internet) in the Career and Employability Centres.

Control to by provided         N         YSS         NO           Control to by provided         100         91.3         0.0           For the straight         100         97.2         2.0           For the straight         100         97.2         2.0           Most comparing         100         8.7         9.1           Most comparing         100         8.7         1.0           Most comparing         100         8.7         1.0           Most comparing         100         8.2         1.0           Most comparing         100         8.2         1.0           Most considered         100         8.2			%	
199   79.1	Services to be provided	z	YES	ON
199   97.2	Career information	601	1.66	6'0
155     157   157     158   157     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158   158     158	Peer tutoring	601	97.2	2.8
107 03.5 108 03.5 107 04.2 108 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5 109 04.5	Full time job placement services	801	95.4	4.6
100 80.7 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 101	More computers on site for electronic job searches	101	93.5	6.5
167 88.8 169 86.5 164 86.5 165 86.0 164 77.1 164 77.1 164 64.5 165 64.6 166 64.6	Help determining areas of career interest	801	500.7	6.6
165 186.7 169 169 165.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169.5 169 169 169 169.5 169 169 169 169 169 169 169 169 169 169	Help with study skills	101	8.8	11.2
164 16.5 107 16.2 108 16.0 109 77.1 109 109 70.3 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109	Special needs assistance	105	86.7	13.3
167 822 168 800 164 77.1 169 70.2 169 644 169 643 169 643	Financial counselling	104	86.5	13.5
165 100.0 164 69.2 164 69.2 161 70.3 161 64.4 168 64.3	Help with time management	101	\$2.2	17.8
164   77.1   164   167.1   164   167.1   167	Help with test anxiety	105	80.0	20.0
104 69.2 101 70.3 104 64.4 105 62.5 104 61.5	Help with crisis management	101	17.1	22.9
181 70.3 184 64.4 185 62.2 184 61.3	Crisis management hotline	104	69.2	30.8
104 64.4 105 62.9 104 61.5	Accommodating outside referrals	101	70.3	29.7
105 62.9	Family counselling	104	64.4	35.6
104 61.5	Long term individual counselling	105	62.9	37.1
	Grief counselling	104	61.5	38.5

Helfgot (1995) reviewed the importance of technology in community college counselling. He found that with the changing student population, nontraditional students are often less prepared for college and will require more assistance both academically and personally. Newer uses for technology include automated student service centers, counselling information and services on the Internet, orientation on television, and automatic telephone information systems to provide increased access to information. Some of Hielfgot's recommendations have been voiced by the students who have completed the Student Satisfaction Survey. Counselling Services has began to implement some of these suggestions and in due course the effectiveness of such initiatives will require future columbiation to ensure that the students are not only being served, but served well.

# Recommendations for Further Research

Based on the results of this internship research component and placement at the College of the North Atlantic, the following possible further research recommendations are made:

 The use of both formal and informat evaluation instruments must continue to be used to demonstrate the effectiveness of initiatives and services provided by the college such as the Career and Employability Centres. This involves an honest, critical, and theorough review for the betterment of the student as well as the college as an ineutrinion.

- 2. A revised venion of the SSS should be administrated to a larger population sample including all stadents at different points in their program from campuses across the prevince. This would allow opportunities for comparison with some of the results presented here. Revisions to the SSS would address some of the concerns described earlier in this text, as well as any other possible concerns that may arise. If the instrument were to be administered to many campuses, or other institutions, questions on the original SSS which make reference to a particular campus should be made more energal.
- 3. Many of the students reported that they were not aware of specific services. Increased utilization of services will depend upon, among other factors, increased student awareness of such services. Therefore methods of developing new ways of enhancing awareness and roducing stigmatism should be the prime focus of a future study at the college.
- Research regarding the viability of the implementation of a FAQ web page and/or
  FAQ on-campus computer terminal should be initiated at the college with input from
  the Student Services staff and the students as to relevant content. Content should be
  regularly updated as necessary.

- 5. Other students indicated that they did not have sufficient time to avail of Counselling Services. Perhaps the college could investigate this issue by taking a closer look at the current scheduling of classes and explore alternative schedules. This may provide some solutions for those students who feel that their present schedule is too hectic to seek bolin.
- 6. The majority of Counselling Service's resources including the Currer and Employability Centers are maintained at ETC and PPD campuses. If students at TRC require access to these resources, this would necessitate travel to the larger campuses to use them. It was observed that a smaller proportion of Medical Sciences students at TRC used Counselling Services less than the other groups. Is this finding the result of these students not requiring services or is the necessary travel between

whether or not additional resources are required there.

campuses a significant factor in this sub-population's help-seeking behavior? Perhaps, a needs assessment could be conducted with students at TRC to determine

It was determined in the present study that older students were more likely to use Counseilling Services than younger students. Therefore, an initiative similar to that described in Rich's (1991) study could be implemented at the College of the North Atlantic to better gauge the needs of the older student as well as to prevent startistion and academic fiftenthies in this constation. Overall, many positive comments were made regarding Counselling Services. I would encourage the college to continue providing opportunities for professional development of their Studies Services staff in the form of workshops, seminars, and conferences. I was fortunate enough to participate in these events during my internship and observed that they allow for the exchange of new ideas and discussions of proposed initiatives prior to their implementation. Further, it appears that staff morale is enhanced and a better roses of functioning as a term nerving the modernis created and maintained.

#### REFERENCES

Amundson, N.E. (1995). A centric career counselling model. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 404 582)

Amundson, N.E. (1993). Mattering: A foundation for employment counselling and training. Journal of Employment Counselling. 30, 146-152.

Barnett, D. (1995). 20 Communication tips for couples. San Rafael, CA: New World Library.

Branden, N. (1992). <u>The power of self-esteem</u>, Deerfield Beach, Florida: Health Communications, Inc.

Canadian Psychological Association. (1992). Companion manual to the Canadian code of ethics for psychologists, 1991. Ottawa, ON: Author

Carney, C. G., Peterson, K., & Moberg, T.M. (1990). How stable are student and faculty perceptions of student concerns and of a university counseling centre? <u>Journal of College Student Development</u>, 31, 423-428.

Cimbolic, P., Thompson, R. A., & Wald, L.R. (1981). A comparison of black and white students' preferences for help sources other than the university counsellor. <u>Journal of</u> College Student Personnel, 22, 342-348.

Cole, E., & Siegal, J.A. (1990). <u>Effective consultation in school psychology</u>.
Toronto, ON: C.J. Hogrefe Publishers.

College of the North Atlantic. (1997). <u>Calendar 1997-1998</u>. St. John's, NF: College of the North Atlantic.

Conger, D.S., Hiebert, B., & Hong Farrell., E. (1993). <u>Career and Employment</u> counselling in Canada. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Labour Force Development Board.

Cook, E.P., Park, W., Williams, G.T., Webb, M., Nicholson, B., Schneider, D., & Eassman, S. (1984). Students' perceptions of personal problems, appropriate help sources, and general attitudes about counseling. <u>Journal of College Student Personnel</u>, 25, 139-144.

Cummings, A.L., Barak, A., & Hallberg, E.T. (1995). Session helpfulness and session evaluation in short term counseling. <u>Counseling Psychology Quarterly</u>, 8(4), 325-332.

Davis, M., Eshelman, E. R., & McKay, M. (1995). The relaxation and stress reduction workbook. (4th ed.). Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications, Inc.

Deane, F.P., & Chamberlain, K. (1994). Treatment fearfulness and distress as predictors of professional psychological help-seeking. <u>British Journal of Guidance and</u> Counselling, 22(2), 207-217.

Dennis-Rounds, J. (1980). Student survey: exit spring '80. Norwalk, California.

(ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 207 648)

Egan, G. (1994). <u>The skilled helper</u>. (5th ed.). Pacific Grove, California: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.

Fanning, P., & O'Neill, J. (1996). <u>The addictions workbook</u>. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications, Inc.

Flynn, R.J. (1994). Evaluating the effectiveness of career counselling: Recent evidence and recommended strategies. Canadian Journal of Counselling, 28(4), 270-280. Goldenberg, I., & Goldenberg, H. (1996). <u>Family therapy: an overview</u>. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.).

California: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.

Good, G.E., & Wood, P.K. (1995). Male gender role conflict, depression, and help seeking: Do college men face double jeopardy? <u>Journal of Counseling and Development</u>, 74, 70-75.

Helfgot, S.R. (1995). Counseling at the center: High tech, high touch. <u>New Directions</u> for Student Services. 69, 45-61.

Henggeler, S.W., Harbin, F.R., & Sallis, J.F. (1982). The visibility and reputations of university and community help sources: perceptions of students and professionals. <u>Journal</u> of College Student Personnel, 23, 7-10.

Hiebert, B., & Conger, D. S. (1995). <u>Career and employment counselling in Canada:</u>

The state of the art. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 399 480)

Hill, C.E., O'Grady, K.E., Balenger, V., Busse, W., Falk, D.R., Hill, M., Rios, P., & Taffe, R. (1994). Methodological examination of videotaped-assisted reviews of brief therapy: Helpfalness ratings, therapist intentions, client reactions, mood, and session evaluation. Journal of Commelline Psychology 41, 236-247.

Johnson, R.W., Ellison, R.A., & Heikkinen, C.A. (1989). Psychological symptoms of counseling center clients. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 36, 110-114.

Kellett, R. (1994). The evaluation of career and employment counselling: A new direction. Canadian Journal of Counselling. 28(4), 346-352.

Kirschner, T., Hoffman, M. A., & Hill, C. E. (1994). Case study of the process and outcome of career counselling. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 41, 216-26. McGrath, J.N. (1995). College students' help seeking preferences for personal problems. Master's Thesis, William Peterson College of New Jersey. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No.ED 390 005)

McKay, M., & Fanning, P. (1987). <u>Self-esteem</u>. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications, Inc.

McLeod, J. (1992). What do we know about how best to assess counsellor competence? <u>Counseling Psychology Quarterly</u>, 5(4), 359-372.

Memorial University of Newfoundland. (1996). <u>Faculty of Education Graduate</u> <u>Student Handbook</u>. St. John's, NF: MUN press.

Noldon, D.F., & Sedlacek, W.E., (1995). Generational differences in academic and ascial attitudes of entering freshmen, 1974-1994. Research, report. No. 4-95. Marilyn University, College Park. Counseling Center. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 405 527).

Ontario College Counsellors. (1984). Statement of ethics and standards of practice for counselling services within the college of applied arts and technology, Ontario: Ontario College Counsellors (OCC).

Patola, P. J., & Tobin, B. (1997). Collaborative action planning: a College-based accentemployability. consultation method. Paper presented at the College of the North Atlantic's Career Employment Services Professional Development Sessions held in Gander, NF. Nov 17-20, 1997. Redovich, D. (1982). Report of the student evaluation of the Milwaukee Area

Technical College. Milwaukee Area Technical College, Wisconsin, (ERIC Document

Reproduction Service No. ED 223 300)

Rice, R.L. (1991). An intervention program for older-than-average students. <u>Journal</u> of College Student Development, 32, 88-89.

Robertson, D. & MacDonald, R. (1995). <u>Assessment guidelines: reviewing and renewing counselling services</u>. Ontario: Ontario College Counsellors (OCC).

Schwitzer, A.M. (1997). Utilization-focused evaluation: Proposing a useful method of program evaluation for college counsellors and student development professionals.

Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development 30, 50,61.

Schwitzer, A.M., Grogan, K., Kaddoura, K., & Ochoa, L. (1993). Effects of brief mandatory counselling on help-seeking and academic success among at-risk college students. 

Journal of College Student Development, 34, 462-463.

Schwitzer, A.M., McGovern, T.V., & Robbins, S.B. (1991). Adjustment outcomes of a freshman seminar: A utilization-focused approach. <u>Journal of College Student</u>
Development, 32, 484-489.

Silker, G. L. (1994). <u>University counseling center client satisfaction surveys: A four study review</u>. Central Michigan University, Counseling Center. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 367 930)

Sworder, S. (1992). Analysis of the survey of student experiences at Saddleback college via the community college student experiences questionnaire, Mission Viejo, California: Saddleback Community College (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 339 445)

Thomas, C., & Schwitzer, A.M. (1993). Assessing utilization and outcomes of a peer-mentor support program for first-year multicultural students at a predominately. White university, Paper presented at the Seventh Annual Virginia State Council for Higher Education Assessment Conference, Richmond.

Waddell, T. K., & Hunt, D. A. (1982). Needs assessment for the Cochise County sommunity college district. Phase I report. Arizona: Cochise College. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 223 298)

Wills, T.A., & DePaulo, B.M. (1991). Interpersonal analysis of the help-seeking process. In C.R. Snyder & D.R. Forsyth (Eds.), Handbook of Social and Clinical Psychology (pp.350-375). New York: Pergamon.

Wiseman, H., Guttfreund, D.G., & Lurie, I. (1995). Gender differences in loneliness and depression of university students seeking counselling, <u>British Journal of Guidance and</u> Counselling, 23(2), 231,243. Appendix A -

The Student Satisfaction Survey

## The Student Satisfaction Survey (SSS)



A Survey of Student Satisfaction with Counselling Services at Prince Phillip Drive Campus (PPD)
Ridge Road Campus (ETC)

Topsail Road Campus (TRC)

## Please Read Before Beginning the Survey

#### To: All Students participating in the Student Satisfaction Survey.

This survey is designed to gain some insight into your feelings and thoughts about the counselling services that are available at the College of the North Atlantic (formerly Cabot College). This is an important endeavour because the focus of the Division of Student Services is YOU, the student. In College to consistently meet your counselling needs, we would like to find out a little bit about you and how we are doing in meeting your needs.

I would like to know your level of satisfaction with Consuelling Services and also request some general background information about you. Participation in this survey is voluntary. You do not have to complete this survey, and your loss of the property of

This information is very relevant to the college because it may aid in better understanding the current relationship between the students, your needs, and the quality of the services provided by Counselling Services. Through such the quality of the services provided by Counselling Services. Through such strengths will be consultation with the counselling services. Through such strengths will be commended and limitations will be identified and addressed. Opportunities for feedback such as this will greatly enrich the relationship between Counselling Services and the student, and help us fine-tune our services to growife our with the best services no smith.

The survey should take approximately 15-20 minutes to complete and has received the approval of the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Education, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

#### THANK YOU FOR HELPING US HELP YOU BETTER

## SECTION I

### ALL STUDENTS COMPLETE THIS SECTION

<u>Directions</u>; Read each item and its numbered response. Circle the letter which best describes the way YOU feel. Remember that this survey and the information that you provide will be held in strict confidence and shall remain anonymous. Do NOT write your name anywhere on this form. Thank-you.

- How long have you attended the College of the North Atlantic (formerly Cabot):
   A. Less than 6 months
  - B. 6-12 months
    - C. 13-18 months
    - D. 19-24 months
    - E. More than 24 months
  - 2. Up to now what has your College GPA (Grade Point Average) been ?
    - A. 4 B. 3 - 3.99
    - C 2-299
    - D. 1 1.99

3

4.

6.

- E. Less than 1
- How many credit hours per week are you currently enrolled in?
- A. Over 18 credit hours (Full time)

  B. Less than 18 credit hours (Part time)
- Which of the following best describes the program that you are now enrolled in?

  A. Engineering Technology
  - B. Industrial Trades
  - C. Medical Sciences
  - D. Business
    E. Community and Applied Arts
    - or commany and spines the
- Year of current program? A. First Year B. Second Year C. Third Year
  - Which of the following BEST describes your reasons for taking courses at the College of the North Atlantic (Formerly Cabot)?
  - A. Earn a vocational certificate or diploma or complete an apprenticeship
    - B. Earn credits for transfer to another program or university
      C. Improve present job skills or acquire skills for a new job
    - D. Personal fulfilment or enjoyment other than above
    - Personal fulfilment or enjoyment other than abov
       Other

7. What is your gender?

A. Male B. Female

8. What is your age?

A. 18 or under F. 35-39 B. 19-20 G. 40-44 C. 21-24 H. 45-49

C. 21-24 H. 45-49 D. 25-29 I. 50-54 E. 30-34 J. 55 or over

 On your application to the college, have you identified a special need which you feel may affect your academic performance?

A. Yes B. No

10. What is your present marital status?

A. Single D. Divorced B. Married E. Separated

C. Common Law F. Widowed

11. Number of dependants?

A. 0 D. 3 B. 1 E. 4

C. 2 F. More than 4

Which of the following BEST describes your highest level of formal education?
 A. Less than eighth grade diploma

A. Less than eighth grade diploma
 B. Eighth grade but less than high school diploma

C. High school diploma or GED equivalent

D. Vocational diploma or certificate
E. Completed one year of college

F. Completed one to two years of college/university but no diploma/degree

G. Completed two to three years of college/university but no diploma/degree
H. More than three years of college/university but no diploma/degree

I. College Diploma

J. Bachelor's degree
 K. Graduate degree

13. While you are in school how many hours a week are you employed?

A. Currently unemployed F. 20-24 hrs
B. Less than 5 hrs G. 25-29 hrs

C. 5 - 9 hrs H. 30-34 hrs D. 10 - 14 hrs I. 35-40 hrs

E. 15 - 19 hrs J. More than 40 hrs

14.	India	cate your yearly total income ra	nge (Include	Student Aid, EI, etc).
	A.	Under \$3,000	F.	\$ 15,000 - \$ 19,999

\$ 3.000 - \$ 5.999 C \$6,000 - \$8,999 H \$ 25 000 - \$ 29 999 \$ 30,000 or above

\$ 9.000 - \$ 11.999 T \$ 12,000 - \$ 14,999

15. Have you used Counselling Services since enrolling as a student at the College of the North Atlantic ?

#### A Ves R No

If yes, please specify the GENERAL nature of your visit(s). Check ALL that apply

O A.	Career counselling
□ B.	Personal counselline

........ C. Tutoring

...... D. Use resource room

..... E. Use of CHOICES, National Graduate Registry (NGR), or other computer based vocational programs

...... F. Student Affairs issues (including Student Aid) □ ...... G. Other

IF YOU ANSWERED 'YES' TO QUESTION 15, PLEASE COMPLETE SECTION II - STARTING ON P. 4. QUESTION 16.

IF YOU ANSWERED 'NO' TO QUESTION 15, PLEASE COMPLETE SECTION III - STARTING ON P. 10. QUESTION 26.

THANK-YOU

#### SECTION II

#### TO BE COMPLETED BY THOSE STUDENTS WHO HAVE USED COUNSELLING SERVICES

- How did you first find out about Counselling Services? 16
  - a ...... A. Instructor П...... В. During Orientation at the beginning of the term
    - □ .......... C. Classmate/Friend
  - D .......... D. College Publications (i.e. Student Handbook, Calendar, etc.)
  - П ..... E. Counsellor Classroom Visit
  - □ .....F. Coincidental (please explain

#### How important are each of the following Counselling Services to you? Receiving information about Unimportant Somewhat Somewhat Important Unimportant Important a. Job Options/Futures b. Determining My Interests -\_ c. College Regulations п п o d Career Guidance п п п п Personal Counselling Time Management Crisis Resolution Coping with Anxiety п п а h. Coping with Depression п Dealing with marital conflict п General Stress п п п k. Self-Esteem Issues п 1. Assertiveness Training -Academic Assistance m. Becoming a Tutor п п

		Unimportant	Somewhat Unimportant	Somewhat Important	Importan
n.	Receiving tutoring				
0.	Student Success Sessions (on topics including Stress Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting, Study Skills, etc.)				
	Other				
p.	Student Aid Information				
q.	Job Placement Services				

 Thinking about your past experiences with Counselling Services, please rate the following aspects of Counselling Services by choosing either Not at all Helpful; Somewhat Helpful; Helpful; Very Helpful; or NA (not amplicable).

	Somewhat Helpful; Helpful; Very I	lelpful; or	N/A (not app	licable).		
		Not at all Helpful	Somewhat Helpful	Helpful	Very Helpful	N/A
a.	The overall services provided by the Counsellors		0	п		0
b.	Help with your particular issue		0			
c.	The secretaries/front desk staff					
d.	Academic assistance received					
e.	Tutoring program					
f.	Help with program stress				0	. 0
g.	Help with test anxiety	D				
h.	Help with time management					
I.	Help with personal stress					
j.	Financial advising / concerns	•				
k.	Help with social difficulties					
L,	Adjustment to college life					

		Not at all Helpful	Somewhat Helpful	Helpful	Very Helpful	N/A
m.	Help with family issues that may be interfering with my studies			0		_
n.	Help with improving study skills			0		
0.	Re-thinking present course/career choices			0		0
p.	Student Success Sessions (on topics including Stress Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting, Study Skills, etc.)					
q.	Discussing special needs with a counsellor	0		0	0	
r.	Help with self-esteem issues					
s.	Help to cope with Depression			0		
t.	Assistance in deciding which program was right for me				0	0
u.	Completing an Interest inventory					
v.	Help with Program Modifications (i.e., reduced course load, change of program, etc.)		п	0		0
9.	Which of the following ser (Please respond to each)	vices st	nould be o	ffered .	?	
					YES	NO
a.	Career Information				0	0
b.	Help with Crisis Management					0
c.	Crisis Management Hotline				0	0
d.	Peer Tutoring					

15

e. Family Counselling
f. Long-Term Individual Counselling

п п

3.	run Time 500 Filections Services	_	
k.	More Computers on Site for Electronic Job Searches		
L	Help Determining Areas of Career Interest		
m.	Special Needs Assistance (Physical and/or Learning Disabilities)	0	
n.	Grief Counselling		
o.	Financial Counselling		
p.	Accommodating outside referrals		
ZO.	How long did you have to wait to see a counsellor?    Marcolon   Base day		-
21.	How do you feel you were treated when you first came into Counselling Serv	rices ?	
22.	With respect to your visit:		
22.	with respect to your visit:		-
		YES	NO
a.	Did the Counsellor make you feel comfortable before your session(s)?		
ь.	Did the Counsellor make you feel comfortable during your session(s)?		

Did the Counsellor make you feel comfortable after your session(s)?

d. Did the counsellor remain objective during your session(s)?

Help with Study Skills

Help with Test Anxiety

Full Time Job Placement Services

I. Time Management

		ILS	r
e.	Was the amount of time that you could spend with the counsellor adequate to meet your needs?		
f.	Did the counsellor seem to understand your presenting problem/inquiry?		
g.	Did the counsellor act in a professional manner?		
h.	Did the counsellor explain issues of confidentiality during sessions with you?		c
L	Was the counsellor well informed about current college services, policies, and procedures?		
j.	I became more confused than I was before I went for counselling.		
k.	Did the counsellor listen attentively to you?		c
L.	Did the counsellor make every reasonable effort to assist you?		
m.	Did counselling help you to deal more effectively with your concerns?		c
n.	Would you recommend Counselling Services to your friends?	0	c
0.	Based on your experience, if you needed further counselling would you return to Counselling Services ?	0	c
PH	SICAL ENVIRONMENT		
23.	With respect to the physical environment of the Student Service office(s):		
		YES	N
8.	Was the Student Services office difficult to find ?		-
b.	Were there enough resources available on site?		
c.	Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the waiting area?		
d.	Were seating arrangements satisfactory and comforting in the counsellor's office?		
e.	Were noise levels outside the office a distraction during sessions?		
f.	Was the quality of lighting suitable within the counsellor's office?		
g.	Was the quality of air ventilation suitable within the counsellor's office?	0	
h.			
	Was the temperature in the counsellor's office suitable?	0	

24.	Did you know that ?		
		YES	N
a.	Throughout the semester Student Success Sessions on topics including Stress Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting, Study Skills, etc., are offered FREE of charge to College of the North Atlantic students?		
b.	Tutors are usually senior students or program graduates and MUST be recommended by the course instructor?	0	
c.	Contracts are signed between the student tutor, the student, and the Student Services Division prior to tutoring?	О	
d.	Tutors are free and available to ALL students through Counselling Services ? (up to a maximum of 8 hours per semester)	а	
e.	Group tutoring is available ?		C
f.	Program accommodations can be requested for students with documented learning disabilities?	0	c
g.	Outside referrals can be made ?	0	
h.	St. John's District has a Learning Disabilities Specialist on staff?		

## **COMMENTS - VOICE YOUR IDEAS!!**

25. Do you have any suggestions on how we can improve our present services to you during your studies here at The College of the North Atlantic ??



THIS COMPLETES THE SURVEY. THANK, YOU FOR YOUR TIME AND COOPERATION.

Please return this questionnaire to your Instructor when you have completed it.

### SECTION III

### TO BE COMPLETED BY THOSE STUDENTS WHO HAVE NOT USED

## COUNSELLING SERVICES

- I have not used counselling services in the past because: (Please check ALL that apply)
  - Lack of information / unaware
  - 0 I didn't have the time 0 C. I didn't want people to know that I needed help for something
  - (confidentiality) а D. Everything is going fine in my life and at college
    - E. Perceived cost
  - а F. Misunderstandings about quality of assistance offered
  - G. Only people with "serious" problems use counselling services
  - н Counsellors were too busy to fit me in I. Other (please explain)

## 2

7.	How important would the following	ng Counselling Servi			
	Receiving information about	Unimportant	Somewhat Unimportant	Somewhat Important	Imports
a.	Job Options/Futures				
b.	Determining My Interests				
c.	College Regulations	0	0		
d.	Career Guidance	0	0		
	Personal Counselling				
e.	Time Management		0	0	
f.	Crisis Resolution				
g.	Coping with Anxiety			0	
h.	Coping with Depression				
I.	Dealing with marital conflict		0		
j.	General Stress				
k.	Self-Esteem Issues				
1	Acceptiveness Training				

	Academic Assistance	Unimportant	Somewhat Unimportant	Somewhat Important	Imp	ortant
m.	Becoming a Tutor					
n.	Receiving tutoring					
0.	Student Success Sessions (on topics including Stress Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting, Study Skills, etc.)			0		
	Other					
p.	Student Aid Information					
q.	Job Placement Services					
28.	Did you know that					
					YES	NO
a.	Throughout the semester Student Succi Management, Test Anxiety, Budgeting charge to College of the North Atlantic	, Study Skills, etc			0	0
ь.	Tutors are usually senior students or pr recommended by the course instructor		and MUST be		0	0
c.	Contracts are signed between the stude Services Division prior to tutoring?	nt tutor, the stude	ent, and the Stud	ent	0	0
d.	Tutors are free and available to ALL st (up to a maximum of 8 hours per semen		ounselling Servi	ces?	0	0
e.	Group tutoring is available?					
f.	Program accommodations can be reque learning disabilities?	ested for students	with documente	d	0	0
g.	Outside referrals can be made?					
h.	St. John's District has a Learning Disab	bilities Specialist	on staff?		п	0

## COMMENTS - VOICE YOUR IDEAS !!

29. Any suggestions for improving counselling services ?



# THIS COMPLETES THE SURVEY. THANK-YOU FOR YOUR TIME AND COOPERATION.

Please return this questionnaire to your Instructor when you have completed it.

## APPENDIX B Demographic Information

Table B1: Sample composition based on campus.

Campus	f	%
Prince Phillip Drive	272	54.5
Engineering Technology Centre	169	33.9
Topsail Road	58	11.6
Totals	499	100.0

Table B2: Gender distribution.

Gender	f	%
Male	275	55.4
Female	221	44.6

### Table B3: Age distribution.

Age	f	%
20 or under	148	29.8
21-24	203	40.9
25-29	81	16.3
Over 29	64	12.9

Note. 3 students did not respond.

Table B4: Registration status.

Registration Status	f	%
Full Time (18+ hrs)	493	99.8
Part Time (18- hrs)	1	0.2

Note. 5 students did not respond.

Table B5: Composition of sample by specific program.

Table	B5 (continued)	f	%
101	Business Management Accounting	24	4.8
102	Business Management HRD	16	3.2
103	Business Management Marketing	18	3.6
201	Graphic Arts Printing	8	1.6
202	Graphic Arts Design	8	1.6
301	Office Administration Information Processing	7	1.4
302	Office Administration Executive Option	13	2.6
303	Office Administration Legal Option	16	3.2
304	Office Administration Medical Option	21	4.2
401	Computer Studies	34	6.8
501	Community Recreation Leadership	17	3.4
601	Computer Support Specialist 3	16	3.2
602	Computer Support Specialist 4	20	4.0
603	Computer Support Specialist 5	8	1.6
605	Micro Computer Specialist	6	1.2
701	Early Childhood Education	19	3.8
802	Instrumentation	18	3.6

Continued ...

Table	B5 (continued)	f	%
804	Communications	15	3.0
805	Integrated Information Systems	12	2.4
901	Architectural Engineering	10	2.0
1001	Civil Engineering	23	4.6
1101	Geomatics Engineering	17	3.4
1201	Mechanical Engineering - Power	12	2.4
1202	Mechanical Engineering - Manufacturing	9	1.8
1301	Electrical Engineering Technology	34	6.8
1401	Auto Technology	21	4.2
1501	Petroleum Engineering	19	3.8
16001	Respiratory	10	2.0
17001	Medical Radiography	12	2.4
18001	Medical Laboratory Sciences	21	4.2
19001	Food Service & Nutrition Management	15	3.0
Totals		499	100.0

Table B6: Number of months enrolled at the College of the North Atlantic.

Length of time	f	%
Less than 12 months	91	18.2
13-18 months	352	70.5
More than 18 months	56	11.3

Table B7: Program areas surveyed.

Program	f	%	
Engineering Technology	202	41.6	
Business	167	34.4	
Community and Applied Arts	74	15.2	
Medical Sciences	43	8.8	

Note, 13 students did not respond.

Table B8: Reasons for attending the College of the North Atlantic.

Reasons	f	%
Vocational certificate / diploma / apprenticeship	276	55.6
Improve present job skills or acquire skills for a new job	133	26.7
Earn transfer credits for another program or university	48	9.7
Personal fulfilment / enjoyment	26	5.2
Other *see Appendix C - Table C1	13	2.6

Note. 3 students did not respond.

### Table B9: Identification of special need.

f	%
479	97.2
14	2.8
	f 479 14

Note. 6 students did not respond.

Table B10: Marital status.

Marital status	f	%	
Single	395	80.1	
Married	51	10.3	
Common Law	39	7.9	
Divorced	6	1.2	
Separated	2	0.5	

Note, 6 students did not respond.

Table B11: Number of dependents.

Number of Dependants	f	%
None	401	81.5
l or More	91	18.5
Note. 7 students did not respond.		

· stanting and not respons

Table B12: Reported frequency of student employment in hours per week.

Hours / week employed	f	%
Currently unemployed	366	73.9
Less than 5 hours	22	4.5
5- 14 hours	53	10.7
15-24 hours	36	7.3
Over 25 hours	18	3.6

Note, 4 students did not respond.

Table B13: Reported annual income range.

Income	f	%	
Under \$6000	169	34.9	
\$6,000 - \$8,999	124	25.6	
\$9,000 - \$14,999	137	28.3	
\$15,000 - \$24,999	29	6.0	
\$25,000 or above	25	5.2	

Note. 15 students did not respond.

Table B14: Reported Grade Point Average.

GPA	f	%	
3.00 or higher	286	58.8	
2.99 or lower	200	41.2	

....

APPENDIX C Student Comments

### Table C1: Other reasons offered for attending the College of the North Atlantic

- To get EI extended
- Educational Leave
- To get papers saying I can do what I
- already know how to do
- laid off from a job
- to find work in an interesting area
- to help me get into another course - Co-op education
- Fast
- receive diploma and have an option to complete a degree (out of province)
  - work chances better
  - parents made me
  - to be the best - needed to do something - not sure what
    - so I chose Cabot

## Table C2: General nature of visit to Counselling Services - Other

- to see if I should enroll - to get help determining GPA
- HRDC

## Table C3: Explanation for coincidental awareness of Counselling Services

- seen the room in the Hall

- I know one of the counsellors

## Table C4: Student responses to the question "How did you feel you were treated when you first came into Counselling Services?"

## Okay/good/ well

- ok, but session of no benefit
- good
   I was treated well. The counsellor listened to my problem and then helped me decide the best way to solve or deal with the problem.
- Fine They were helpful with what I needed
- adequately

#### Very Well/ Very Good/Very Helpful

- very well
  - "like gold by Diane Whelan she's a sweetheart give her a raise !"
     very good.
  - pretty good
     very helpful

#### Quickly & efficiently / Excellent

- quickly & efficiently with respect to my needs
  - Excellent - problem addressed and dealt with immediately

## - great Friendly / Knowledgeable

- Friendly staff who try to do their best to accommodate students to the best of
  - their ability. But understaffed
  - Friendly & Knowledgeable
     informative

## - politely

- Respectfully
  - respectfully with concern
     counsellor was considerate and kind
  - with respect
     Fairly

## Comfortable

- I felt comfortable & at ease
  - I was put at case
    - welcomed
    - comfortable environment

#### Student Loans (Positive)

- appropriate help given immediately before the issue became a problem.
  - very helpful, NEIL showed me around the campus personally which was nice - I attended MUN in the past and Cabot out does it. The staff is much more helpful and easier to confront and are excellent at explaining the loan process.

#### Like a Person

- like a person and not a number like some student services
  - the way a person should be

## Counsellors were attentive/ Interested

- pleased with their attention to issues - caring & understanding
- interested in what I had to say - took time to listen and give feedback

## - given a great deal of attention Important

#### - Important

- like my situation was important

## Great - like one of the family

### Getting the Run-around

- I just felt that I kept getting referred to someone else or told that they never had the right answers

#### Table C5: Students comments and suggestions for improvement.

#### Awareness:

 Publish a newsletter highlighting all functions responsibilities of student services.

- Scholarship information needed:- many times they are there but we aren't aware
  of them.
- PLA more information re: previous learning for exemptions in courses.
   Experience and courses should amount for something
- Info On Career Opportunities pay scales, job futures etc.
- More awareness of Services
- Unaware of existing services
  - make students more aware
     let students know about CS through one on one basis or seminar in first year.
    - don't really know about the service to comment
    - classroom visits would be good
    - classroom visits to talk about work terms
      - advertize more
      - more information on enrollment
      - make more visible
         questionnaires like this (furthers awareness)
    - I am a tutor. I have not signed any contracts. Didn't know I had to.
    - make the info in this questionnaire known to students REALLY known
    - more pronounced way of promoting counselling services
  - PA announcements

### Reminder of Counselling Services

- Verbal Reminder of Counselling Services in classes beginning of second year

#### How to make students more aware:

- I believe conducting this survey gives out all needed information concerning services
  - do you expect student's to read all the handouts given in 1<sup>st</sup> year? Put up some signs!

#### Resources Needed:

- More job placements for Co-op programs
- More Information On Programs Employability Rates
- More Rooms Available For Tutors
- Computer Equipment needed (for programs)- the computer equipment and lab equipment is terrible.
- Have More Counsellors
- Air Quality air quality in labs poor very warm
- Recreational Activities needed at TRC
- Hire more staff like Neil & Ida
- Better services for Older students needed
- Crisis management hotline would be very important
- Career Exploration more to help students find out what they want to do with their life.
- Liaison type work For issues between the students and the college
- For the Graphic Design Program: "the number of available computers does not match the number of students. More computers are needed to allow us to do our work and limit our frustrations"
  - Job Search Centre - For summer jobs / work terms
    - job search board / employment services
    - Extra time needed with Instructors extra time needed for students to work with instructors i.e., math & electronics

- Create Help Centre create with computers accessible all day long & working printers
  - time sheet for students to sign up on a specific machine
     This is important because it is very difficult to get time during school for doing assignments on computer
- More Active Role In Job Finding For Graduates
- Provide more help with Student Loan Issues
   student loans are needed as soon as possible in order to pay rent, food etc.,
   nut more emphasis on Student Loans
- F -- -----

### Efficient improvements

- FAQ Computer have a computer there with FAQ on it to save student services time for 'real problems' cut down on wait time
- Year End Seminar Wanted: at the end of Yr. I, a very detailed seminar should have been given to help students choose which option in the specific field would best for them
- Hours Of Operation extend hours of operation
  - Contact Names: a list of contact names and phone numbers might also help someone who people assume have no problems at all but is too proud to talk about them.
    - have an agenda of who is available and how to find them
- Web page: a counselling page on the College's website for general questions and information
- More counselling help from Teachers: teachers should notice when students are beginning to burn out and offer some sort of help.

#### Other Comments:

#### Positive Comments

#### - Satisfactory

 Doing well + - Service is fine - it is there when needed and NOT forced upon a person.

- doing a fine job!

## Negative Comments - Front Desk Staff not very pleasant

Waste of time - not needed at any point in my life

#### Student Success Sessions

- have a different time slot on Mondays and Wednesdays for these

 the stress management session should be moved to another time slot. I would really like to go but I don't want to miss class.

Have Student Success Sessions available after class. The last stress management session our class couldn't attend because (it) conflicted with our class schedule -I would love to go but they are during class time So I miss out

provide sessions outside of class time (I wanted to attend but couldn't)
 schedule more than one

- More Tutoring Hours Needed Eight is insufficient
- More Tutors Needed Particularly for Accounting II
- Tutor assistance get counsellors to get tutors for us ... not just give names to call (give us that option).

### Table C6: Other reasons "I have not used Counselling Services in the past because ..."

- Work load too great to take time to see a counsellor
  - Didn't get around to it
  - Never Bother
  - Haven't been here very long at this campus, may get a chem tutor.
  - Went to family & friends whenever help was needed
  - Rather talk to friends than strangers
  - I like to deal with things on my own
  - I can certainly handle all my personal problems by myself. If not, I do anyway.
- Didn't know exactly who to go to with my problems
  - Did not know about different types of counselling offered
  - Didn't have any reason to but I wouldn't say everything is going fine
  - Do not need counselling
  - Not really interested - Liust don't want to go
  - I just don't want to a
     I iseless
  - Useress
  - I assume a run-around and B.S. like the registrar's office, so I don't bother with any
    of the services that COLLEGE OF THE NORTH ATLANTIC has to offer!
     Everything was going fine before teachers didn't have a clue how to teach related
  - subjects.

    Why bother complain about something if all the hot shots at outer ridge road are
  - Why bother complain about something if all the hot shots at outer ridge road are afraid to make a change in fear of losing their jobs?

APPENDIX D: College Consent Form

#### COLLEGE CONSENT FORM

Dear .	
	My name is Andrew Smith and I am a graduate student in the Faculty of Education, Memoria
	rsity of Newfoundland. In September of 1997 I am beginning an internship at the College of the North

Newbook & Mr. David Touchings have agreed to act as my field supervisors and Dr's Denis Shame & During the internship I will be conducting research directly related to my program. The objective of the research is to gather and analyse data specifically related to student satisfaction and use of Counselling

Services at the College of the North Atlantic. The survey shall address the following questions:

To what extent are students aware of all services provided by Counselling Services ? How satisfied are the second year students with selective aspects of their counselling experiences?

Norman Gartie have agreed to co-supervise on behalf of the Faculty of Education.

- What are the anticipated needs of those students who have not used Counselling Services at the college?
- Is the perception and utilization of Counselling Services influenced by selected demographic factors?

I am interested only in obtaining some of the students' general background demographic information. and their opinion of their level of satisfaction with Counselling Services. I am requesting of the participants that they do not reveal their identity anywhere on the survey instrument. This is to further ensure that all data collected in this study will be strictly confidential and that at no time will any individual be identified. All raw data collected during the course of this study will be destroyed upon completion of the study. This study may involve instructor cooperation and will take approximately 15 minutes of classroom instructional time to complete.

I am requesting your permission to conduct a survey of selected second year students during the month of September. This information is very relevant to the college because it may aid in better understanding the current relationship between the students, their needs, and the quality of the services provided by Counselling Services. Through such an analysis and consultation with the counselling team, it is hoped that strengths will be commended and limitations will be identified and addressed.

This study has received the approval of the Faculty of Education's Ethics Review Committee. The results of this research will be made available to you upon request.

If you are in agreement with this request, please sign below. If you have any questions or concerns nlease do not hesitate to contact me at 722-7890. If, at any time you wish to speak to a resource person not associated with the study, please contact Dr. Philins, Associate Dean, Research & Development, Thank you for your consideration of this request.

١.	n	٨		e	m	۵

I hereby allow to conduct a survey investigating student satisfaction with Counselling Services at the College of the North Atlantic - District 7. hereby allow

I understand that all information is strictly confidential and no individual will be identified.







